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• Delivered record revenues and earnings from continuing operations

• Generated significant cash from operations

• Increased sales quarter over quarter throughout the year for new Digital Imaging camera  

   products targeted at previously untapped markets

• Shipped record number of MEMS wafers

• Won significant image sensor design-ins with major professional photography OEMs

2008 Achievements

Financial Highlights
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DALSA at a glance
DALSA is an international leader in high performance digital imaging and semiconductors with approximately 1000 

employees world-wide. Established in 1980, the Company designs, develops, manufactures, and markets digital 

imaging products and solutions, in addition to providing semiconductor products and services. DALSA’s core 

competencies are in specialized integrated circuit and electronics technology, software, and highly engineered

semiconductor wafer processing. Products and services include image sensor components (CCD and CMOS); 

electronic digital cameras; vision processors; image processing software; and semiconductor wafer foundry services 

for use in MEMS, high-voltage semiconductors, image sensors and mixed-signal CMOS chips. DALSA is listed on the 

Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “DSA” and has its corporate offices in Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.
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Snapshot Market position Strategic priorities Revenues 2008

Leading supplier of 

image capture and image 

processing products for 

high performance and 

high volume industrial 

markets.

Premier supplier of 

specialized and custom 

wafer foundry services.

In a highly fragmented 

market, DALSA holds 

an 8-10% market share 

world-wide in the high 

performance and high 

volume industrial segment.

Leading position in “pure  

play” MEMS foundry 

services. Leading and 

growing position in high 

performance CCD and 

CMOS image sensor chips. 

• Increase market 

    share in the high 

    performance segment.

• Penetrate further into 

    the high volume 

    industrial segment.

• Be a strategic supplier of    

    CCDs to Digital Imaging  

 Business. 

• Position the business   

 as a holistic semiconductor  

 operation: from wafer  

 processing to finished ICs.

• Transition from lower  

 margin mixed-signal CMOS  

 to higher growth, highly  

 differentiated MEMS and  

 High Voltage CMOS.

$118.5 million



DID YOU KNOW?
A Genie camera can scan up to 
10,000 barcodes in 2.5 seconds?

IMPROVING INSIGHT 
DALSA’s CMOS and CCD image sensors 
deliver higher quality images with faster 
results and lower X-Ray dosage than 
traditional film, benefiting both patients 
and practitioners.
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The Power of Innovation

Our 28 x 23 cm CMOS X-Ray panel for 

mammography is just one example of 

DALSA’s world-leading performance 

in image sensors.

DALSA holds over 200 patents 

in semiconductor design and  

fabrication and digital imaging.

Our hugely successful Genie 

camera’s gigabit Ethernet interface 

reduces costs for machine vision 

system designers. 

“We exist to create more and even better technology”—DALSA core value

Innovation is fundamental to DALSA’s, past, present and future—so fundamental that we list it first among our core 

values. From our inception in 1980, DALSA has been built by the constant innovation of talented and dedicated people. 

Research and development is a crucial component of our competitive engine, and it shows both in our patent 

portfolio (over 200 and counting) and in our business planning. As a $200 million corporation, DALSA is among the top 

100 corporate R&D spenders in Canada.

DALSA has earned its technology leadership position in semiconductors and imaging solutions through focusing on 

innovation. In 2008 we delivered a CCD with 25% more pixels than our previous 111 megapixel world record. The Mars 

Rovers still deliver stunning images with their DALSA-built image sensors, five years after touchdown. Our hugely 

successful Genie series of industrial cameras use a gigabit Ethernet interface to shrink cost and complexity for machine 

vision systems. Our world-leading X-Ray image sensors serve life sciences from mammography to dental imaging, with 

higher quality images, faster results and lower X-Ray dosage than traditional film. And in every day life, DALSA-built 

MEMS accelerometers, gyros, microphones, and resonators power consumer electronics from cell phones and PDAs to 

game controllers.

But innovation is not limited to new products. DALSA constantly seeks to improve our business processes to make them 

more efficient and more environmentally responsible. In 2008, continuous improvement initiatives from employee 

suggestions in all areas of our business, from R&D to manufacturing, materials management, finance, accounting, sales, 

and support combined to save us more than $3,000,000. But we’re not done—stay tuned for more bright ideas in 2009.



DID YOU KNOW?
A Genie camera can scan up to 
10,000 barcodes in 2.5 seconds?

INCREASING CLARITY  
DALSA cameras inspect the majority of 
LCD screens you see around you, from 
PDAs to the largest flat panels. And 
DALSA sensors capture many of the 
high-speed HD images you see on them.
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The Power of Performance

DALSA-built image sensors are

the eyes of the Mars Rovers, 

delivering the highest-quality images 

ever taken from another planet.

DALSA image sensors provided 

stunning HD “super slow-mo” at the 

Beijing Olympics by capturing at up 

to 180 frames per second.

The world’s most advanced

chipmakers depend on DALSA

cameras for vital quality control. 

“We strive to do even better tomorrow”—DALSA core value

DALSA was founded to focus innovation on performance. Our customers come to us asking us to deliver performance 

that others can’t—to go faster with greater clarity and precision. How fitting then that cameras with DALSA image 

sensors capturing 180 frames per second in high definition provided stunning HD “super slow-mo” at the 

Beijing Olympics. 

As the world’s leading supplier of digital cameras used to inspect flat panel displays (from PDA screens to the largest 

televisions), DALSA is vital to improving yield and lowering manufacturing costs for almost all major flat panel suppliers. 

Semiconductor wafer inspection is a similar application, but even more demanding. Visible wavelengths of light are too 

big to reveal defects in deep submicron lithography, so the semiconductor industry’s leaders depend upon deep 

ultraviolet (DUV) light and the unparalleled performance of DALSA custom designs.

DALSA dominates the medium format professional digital photography market with image sensors of 50, 60, and 

more megapixels that deliver the performance the most discerning professional photographers demand: exceptionally 

low noise, unmatched exposure latitude, and better color. And for even bigger pictures, DALSA image sensors with well 

over 100 megapixels power aerial photogrammetry cameras that provide unmatched images of our world.

In the semiconductor business, DALSA’s exceptional process repertoire allows our foundry customers to create MEMS 

devices with competitive advantage. DALSA’s rare ability to optimize architecture, performance, and reliability meets 

the needs of high-volume, mission-critical microsystems in photonics, telecom, biomedical, industrial, and consumer 

applications.



HAVING FUN
Several of today’s cell phones, PDAs, and 
game controllers include DALSA-built MEMS 
accelerometers, gyros and microphones.
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The Power of Supply

DALSA is the industry’s only

completely vertically integrated

supplier, from “Silicon to Smart

Cameras.” 

With our own semiconductor wafer 

facility, we control the most critical 

part of our digital imaging business’s 

supply chain—image sensors.

DALSA’s business is widely

diversified by both geography and

application. The strength of DALSA’s 

distributor network is a significant 

competitive advantage.

“DALSA exists for the long term”—DALSA core value

DALSA’s customers vary widely in their geography and their products, but they have one thing in common—their 

operations depend on a stable supply of components. For almost 30 years, DALSA has helped its customers succeed 

through not only inventing high-performance products but by reliably supplying them, day after day and year after year.

DALSA has always sought to build for the long term, growing a resilient business with a high level of diversity that is not 

over-reliant on any one industry. No individual customer represents more than 10% of our total revenues. Innovation and 

high performance allow us to offer highly differentiated products, and we serve diversified end markets, in terms of both 

applications and geography. 

DALSA is the industry’s only completely vertically integrated supplier, from “Silicon to Smart Cameras.” With our own 

foundry, we control the most critical part of our digital imaging business’s supply chain—image sensors. Production of 

those image sensors in parallel with our world-leading MEMS capabilities helps us balance our foundry’s capacity and 

utilization to make most efficient use of our fixed assets. 

Our commitment to supplying customers requires diligent attention to their needs. DALSA has spent many years 

cultivating a strong global distributor network. In the last few years we have significantly expanded our sales and support 

strength in the Asia-Pacific region to serve rapidly growing markets. In difficult economic climates, our strong and lasting 

relationships with our channel partners and the top companies in our markets will bring mutual benefits. Our track record 

will help us develop new relationships and win business away from less resilient competitors. 

DALSA seeks responsible and sustainable long term growth. With our employees, our management, and our partners, 

we are confident that we can achieve our goals if we continue our focus on innovation, performance, and supply. 



Left to right: Savvas Chamberlain, Executive Chairman and Chief Technology Officer; 

Brian Doody, Chief Executive Officer; and Wajid Ali, Chief Financial Officer
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DALSA Corporation did very well in 2008. We produced record results with $206 million in revenue and $21.9 million ($1.17 per 
share) in net earnings from continuing operations. I would like to acknowledge and thank all the employees (almost 1000 world 
wide), the management, the executives and all the stakeholders who contributed to this success. This is the latest in a long 
series of excellent contributions which over the years have made DALSA a first class international company.  

The success of DALSA can be traced back to its well thought out strategy: innovate, generate new technology, and 
supply this technology in products to solve relevant problems in industry and society. Internationally DALSA continues to 
be acknowledged as a world leader in technology and products for industrial applications in the areas of digital imaging and 
advanced semiconductor fabrication. 

Over the years DALSA has achieved “world’s first” for a number of products, and it is fitting that from time to time we should 
highlight and celebrate such successes. Before our CEO Brian Doody reviews our operations and outlook, I would like to give 
you my perspective on some examples of DALSA’s innovation and the history behind them.

In 1988 while the industry had CCD image sensors operating at an output pixel rate of 5 MHz, DALSA introduced image 
sensors and digital cameras operating at 40 MHz, targeting industrial applications where we perceived a real need for faster 
image capture, such as machine vision for automation, document scanning, parcel sorting, and mail sorting. The feedback on 
these innovative, unprecedented products was fantastic, both from industry trade shows as well as OEM customers. 

However, four years later, our revenue from these products had not taken off or “climbed up the hockey stick.” At the time 
we could not explain it. It was not until the middle of the 1990s that we reached the tipping point and saw revenues take off. 
In retrospect, the reason is clear: DALSA was ahead of its time. Real revenue traction only commenced when the cost of 
computing came down significantly. Our image sensors generated torrents of digital data which had to be processed, and 
when affordable computing finally caught up to our products, we saw a leap in our revenue. It was an important lesson. We 
learned that if we are patient, then innovation, performance and reliable supply to our customers finally produces good returns 
and good profits. We are still a world leader in this technology.

We saw a similar pattern with our advanced Time-Delay-and-Integration (TDI) image sensors: devices which solve the complex 
problem of improving resolution and increasing pixel rate while simultaneously reducing illumination requirements. In 1989, 
after years of R&D, we put this technology into products that offered effective output pixel rates of 120 MHz, over 20 times 
faster than the state of the art. However, it took us almost five years more to realize significant revenue from this technology. 
Again, cost of computing was an issue, but another reason for the slow adoption was the lack of understanding by industry 
of how to use this technology to solve their problems. It took time to educate them. Today our TDI sensors, now with 
throughput approaching 15 GHz, are absolutely critical to some of the world’s most demanding imaging applications, such as 
semiconductor wafer inspection. Again, DALSA is the world leader in this technology and generates good profits from it.

Looking forward, DALSA has an outstanding portfolio of world-leading technologies aimed at growth, including x-ray imaging 
for mammography, 60+ megapixel image sensors for professional imaging, digital cameras for intelligent traffic systems, and 
MEMS fabrication for sophisticated components built into commercial and consumer electronics. I strongly believe in the long 
term future success of DALSA. For this reason, as a major shareholder I continue to buy DALSA stock. Our approach remains 
sound, and over the long term I am confident we will deliver revenue and earnings growth and return on investment. Our 
innovation, performance, customer support and product supply will prevail over the competition. 

Chairman’s Report

Savvas Chamberlain, M.Sc. Ph.D. Fellow IEEE, D.Eng (Waterloo), FCAE, FCIE 
Executive Chairman and Chief Technology Officer
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I am very proud of the achievements of DALSA’s employees in all positions and at all our locations world-wide, as they 
made 2008 a record year in all respects within our core business segments. Completing my first full year as DALSA’s 
Chief Executive Officer, I am pleased to be able to report to you on the many successes within our Digital Imaging and 
our Semiconductor businesses and to provide my view of what lies ahead. 

First let me review the recovery posted by DALSA in 2008, before I comment on our outlook and plans for 2009.

Back on Track: Record Results in 2008

DALSA’s positive 2008 operating and financial results within our core business demonstrate the success of our actions 
in 2008 after the many challenges of 2007. As you followed DALSA’s results through this past year you saw those action 
plans take hold and deliver solid results.

Our Digital Imaging business had its best year ever for sales and 
earnings, supported strongly by strength in our Asia-Pacific operations. 
In Asia-Pacific, our market-leading position in the development and supply 
of advanced image sensors, digital cameras, and image processing 
hardware and software to the semiconductor manufacturing industry 
drove solid results in 2008. In particular, the Flat Panel Display inspection 
market created strong demand for our most advanced products, imaging 
solutions that ensure the flat panel monitors and televisions we all use and 
enjoy deliver the most beautiful pictures possible.  

Equally important for DALSA’s Digital Imaging group is the continued success of a broad and expanding line of Ethernet-
addressable cameras specifically targeting the replacement of older, analog-technology cameras, across a broad 
range of applications. The strategy employed by our engineers, product managers, and sales teams to win in a market 
not previously served by DALSA proved to be highly successful; it witnessed the most rapid sales growth of any new 
DALSA product throughout 2008 in this mid-volume industrial market. I’m particularly proud of the success (and the 
continuing opportunity) of this initiative because it very successfully combines the CMOS image sensor technology of 
the Professional Imaging group in Eindhoven, The Netherlands, with the advanced digital camera design and software 
development capabilities of our Digital Imaging R&D groups in Waterloo, ON, and Montreal, PQ. It’s the combination of 
these three market-leading capabilities that have driven our success in the mid-performance, higher volume industrial 
camera market.

Within our Semiconductor business, we entered 2008 in a position of confidence both in our semiconductor 
manufacturing facility and our image sensor design and production group. Our plans within our Semiconductor 
manufacturing facility in Bromont, PQ, were executed flawlessly by the DALSA team, as our strategy to exit poor margin, 
highly competitive parts of that business and focus on MEMS (Micro Electro Mechanical Systems) proved successful. 
In 2008, our production of some of the world’s most advanced MEMS grew more than 30% over 2007 to become the 
most important part of our external semiconductor business. Producing semiconductor wafers to serve such diverse 
applications as game controllers, image stabilization in consumer cameras, ink jet printer heads, and cell phone 
microphones and resonators, our semiconductor fabrication facility is recognized as one of the top 5 pure play suppliers 
of MEMS semiconductors, world-wide.

CEO’s Report
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The strategic links between our Semiconductor fabrication facility and our 
imaging products is strong, as our advanced CCD process led our image 
sensor group within Semiconductor to land important new design wins in 
2008. The boom of photogrammetry worldwide is made possible by the 
capabilities of our huge image sensors with not just tens of megapixels, but 
even hundreds of millions of pixels on a single chip. This amazing resolution 
allows our customers to take spectacular images of the earth, driving such 
popular and useful tools such as Google Earth™ and Microsoft® Virtual 
Earth™. That same image sensor technology from DALSA created those 
wonderful images many of us enjoyed from the Beijing Olympics – the stop 
action effects enabled by the high speed operation of our chips allowed 
us a glimpse into the details of sport that no one has seen before.

Last year in this report I described the opportunities and challenges facing 
us in our Digital Cinema new business development initiative as we entered 2008. I described our metrics for success:  
revenue traction early in 2008, followed by financial self sustainability by the year’s end. Although our image quality 
and highest resolution available from any cinema camera won new projects for our Digital Cinema team, as the year 
progressed it became clear that we were unlikely to achieve the financial targets for the division. It was with considerable 
mixed feelings that I told you of our decision to wind down our Digital Cinema operations and to seek buyers for the 
different parts of that business. I was disappointed to have to make these dramatic changes to our business. I remain 
convinced that one day the cinema industry will convert to digital…and that our technology is the best solution possible. 
However, I clearly received the message from the markets and from our shareholders that DALSA could not afford to 
continue to spend money on this initiative, especially in these times of economic uncertainty.

Although we were beginning to see the effects of the economic crisis in the fourth quarter of 2008, I am pleased that 
we ended the year accomplishing the goals we set out in our Digital Imaging and Semiconductor business segments.  
Those successes not only underscore a dramatic turnaround from 2007, but in conjunction with our actions relating to 
Digital Cinema, place us in a better position to weather the uncertainties of 2009.

Looking Ahead: Choosing Our Direction

In September 2008 the most significant economic downturn seen since the Great Depression began to grind the world’s 
economy to a near standstill. DALSA continued through our last financial period of 2008 relatively unscathed, although 
certain of our Digital Imaging customers were already retreating into a cloud of uncertainty. Neither DALSA nor our 
customers are alone – the economic negativity feeds upon itself, driving a wide range of industries and all the world’s 
economies into a recessionary period.

Faced with these rapidly changing conditions we looked to our strategy – a long term plan that was created to help 
DALSA succeed over three to five years. The growth aspect of our strategy dictates that we pursue untapped adjacent 
markets, but where timing is good for our products to step into existing applications currently served by older technology.  
This approach can also lend stability in a time of retreating market demand. With the right new products, sold on the 
strength of existing customer relationships, DALSA can successfully place its new products into design slots as previous 
solutions become outdated.

Earlier, I mentioned the mid-performance industrial camera market. In 2007 and 2008, we showed that we can capture 
market share from our competitors in this attractive market space, in fulfillment of this strategy. Another is the wide 
range of applications that require colour imaging. DALSA’s success over the past 20 years has been largely driven 
by monochromatic (black and white) digital imaging. This is because our cameras generally capture digital images 

DALSA image sensors power photogrammetry 

cameras that feed popular tools such as Google 

Earth™ and Microsoft® Virtual Earth™.
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for analysis by a computer – and it’s faster, easier, and often more accurate for computers to analyze black and white 
images. But in 2008 we identified some key industrial markets that we have not pursued in the past that do indeed rely 
on colour image capture. So we now have a number of key camera products which not only offer our well known ultimate 
image quality and high operating speed, but use our own colour imaging technology from our Semiconductor business. 
In addition, all our new camera products include new operating software, allowing easy interfacing to our broad range of 
image processing software tools, which makes it very easy for our customers to find a full imaging solution from DALSA.

Complementing our broad range of standard products within our Digital Imaging Business is our Application Specific 
Contracts (ASC) group. This team at DALSA undertakes the most challenging custom engineering projects requiring the 
best performance in a broad range of digital imaging technologies. The customer funded development model produces 
a unique product for our customer, and with performance that is second to none. In 2009 we are redeploying some of our 
highly qualified R&D personnel from developing standard products to working on an expanded range of ASC projects 
at DALSA. This approach has the double benefit of reducing current net R&D costs while producing end products for a 
very committed customer—one who has paid significant engineering fees towards product development. I feel this is 
a prudent strategy for times when all costs must be scrutinized and minimized, including R&D, while still allowing us to 
expand our technology and product pool.

An additional action deriving from our strategy within our Digital Imaging group is increasing our focus on applications 
and markets worldwide that are more resilient to recessionary impact. Many governments are spending on infrastructure; 
for DALSA, this will mean increased demand for our products in intelligent traffic systems, postal and parcel sorting, 
road and rail inspection, defense and security, and medical imaging. Emerging markets supported by worldwide efforts 
to stimulate the economy, including solar panel production and inspection, can also benefit DALSA. We hold a strong 
position in some of these markets already; in others, we have made deep inroads recently thanks to the success of our 
new products such as Genie and our colour imaging cameras.

Our Semiconductor Business, as of this writing, appears to be showing more resilience to the worldwide economic 
situation. With a concentrated customer base we tend to have better visibility on the business outlook of each of our 
customers and their markets. Within our semiconductor fabrication facility in Bromont, our technology and business 
development teams have clearly focused on the large and growing opportunities in the MEMS marketplace. As I noted 
earlier, this was the fastest growing part of our external business at our foundry, driven by our advanced toolbox of 
patented MEMS technology. As a parallel to our strategy in Digital Imaging, we are capitalizing on the fact that MEMS 
technology is replacing many older solutions to existing market applications. Certainly the use of MEMS devices for 
automotive applications will see a drop in demand; however, our outlook is that newer applications for MEMS in emerging 
markets, such as gyros for digital camera image stabilization and for game controllers, microphones for cell phones 
and laptops, optical switches for telecom, and industrial pressure sensors will adequately replace business lost in those 
industries affected by the downturn.  

We are also excited about the opportunities that our planned and 
controlled expansion to 200mm MEMS capability will present to 
our team in Bromont. Increasing the size of the semiconductor 
wafers that we can produce provides a cost benefit both to 
DALSA and to our customers, thereby allowing us to compete 
effectively in higher volume or more cost sensitive applications, 
even while providing us with improved margins. Of course, 
deployment of these 200mm tools will be timed such that 
cash flow is prudently managed in balance with clear and 
demonstrated demand by customers for these larger wafer sizes. 
We are proceeding with this expansion only when we have 

DALSA-built MEMS allow lower cost and lower power 

consumption in both industrial and consumer electronics.
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specific business opportunities that demand 200mm, although in most cases the related production volumes will be 
realized in 2010 and beyond.

Within the integrated circuits portion of DALSA’s 
Semiconductor business segment, our Professional 
Imaging unit supplies some of the world’s highest 
image quality sensor chips to a range of demanding 
professional and scientific applications. A new line 
of image sensors, both standard and custom, that 
are specifically targeted at medical x-ray imaging 
received positive reviews late in 2008 at the largest 
trade show for this industry, held in Chicago. Together 
with our wholly-owned subsidiary, Rad-icon Imaging 
Corporation, our Professional Imaging group offers 
a line of dental and medical x-ray image sensor 
chips that are in full production. We anticipate the 
demographics of an aging society will continue to 
drive demand for our technologies and products 
in the future.

Our Professional Imaging group was also very successful in 2008 in developing new supply partnerships in the key target 
market of high end professional photography. Digital still cameras using our chips produce vibrant, spectacular images 
of the highest resolution available; these pro cameras are used for fashion, advertising, and portrait work, among other 
areas. DALSA supplies the highest resolution image sensors for this market, and these devices are now in production 
for the market leaders in this field. I am happy that our technical and business development teams were able to win 
business in this market during 2008; these new design wins will provide growth opportunities for DALSA even if this 
market comes under pressure, since we had few product sales to these new customers in previous years.

In spite of all these opportunities and strategic decisions we’ve made, it is clear that the financial crisis of late 2008 
and the ensuing worldwide recession will have an impact on our business within the Digital Imaging segment. We are 
actively pursuing the actions I’ve described above, and the results will most certainly mitigate some of the impact we’ll 
feel from the economic downturn. In addition to the focus on new sources of revenue we are actively managing costs 
with a goal to operate the Digital Imaging unit in a profitable and cash-positive manner throughout the year. All of these 
actions, together, will ensure that we not only minimize the effect of the economic situation, but will also leave the Digital 
Imaging business strong and ready to tackle all opportunities when economic growth returns. Furthermore, the continued 
success of our Semiconductor business and reduced impact from the recession on that part of our business will help to 
moderate any dip we may see in 2009.

Our new products and capabilities in Ethernet addressable cameras for traffic enforcement, large field x-ray panels 
for low dose digital radiology, MEMS devices replacing old technology in countless applications, and the best image 
sensors for pro photography are but a few examples of the drivers for growth we look forward to as the world’s economy 
recovers. The great work the entire DALSA team delivered in 2008 has proven that we have a strong company with great 
people and leading products; I look forward to those ingredients continuing to drive our success and growth over the 
long term.

Brian Doody, CEO

DALSA’s world-leading CMOS technology allows radiography with lower 

dose and less waiting.
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2008 Annual Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis provides information that management believes is relevant to an assessment 
and understanding of DALSA Corporation’s consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion 
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes (“the 
Consolidated Financial Statements”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and are reported in Canadian dollars. The information 
contained herein is dated as of January 29, 2009.

Certain statements contained in this report contain forward-looking statements, including (without limitation) statements 
concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of the Company preceded by, followed by or that include 
the words “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “estimates”, “intends”, “plans”, “forecasts” or similar expressions. 
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions 
and the Company’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.  
Additional information relating to the Company and the risks inherent in its business is provided in the Company’s Annual 
Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2008 and other documents available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com 
and on the Company’s website at www.dalsa.com.

In this report we use two non-GAAP measures, “Backlog” and “Net R&D”, as financial performance indicators. Backlog 
describes the total value of sales orders and other firm commitments from our customers to be fulfilled by DALSA in 
future quarters. Net R&D is a measure of what the Company spends on gross R&D less application specific contracts 
revenue, government grants and investment tax credits. The Company believes these measures provide meaningful 
information on the Company’s performance and operating results. However, readers are cautioned that non-GAAP 
measures do not have a standardized meaning under GAAP and they are, thus, unlikely to be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other issuers.

In this document, “we”, “us”, “our”, “Company” and “DALSA” all refer to DALSA Corporation and its business units 
and subsidiaries. The content of this MD&A was approved by Board of Directors, on the recommendation of its Audit 
Committee.

Our Vision
We seek excellence by:  
• Building an environment of growth where dedicated people work together. 
• Creating innovative technology, quality products and superior imaging solutions. 
• Succeeding with our customers in new and current markets.

Our Core Values
• We exist to create more and ever better technology. 
• We are open, direct, and thorough. 
• We exist for the long term. 
• We strive to do even better tomorrow. 
• We listen and pay attention to the needs of our customers. 
• We treat employees and customers with integrity. 
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Our Company

DALSA is an international leader in high performance digital imaging and semiconductors with approximately 1,000 
employees world-wide. Established in 1980, the Company designs, develops, manufactures, and markets digital imaging 
products and solutions, in addition to providing semiconductor products and services. DALSA’s core competencies 
are in specialized integrated circuit and electronics technology, software, and highly engineered semiconductor wafer 
processing. Products and services include image sensor components (CCD and CMOS); electronic digital cameras; 
vision processors; image processing software; and semiconductor wafer foundry services for use in MEMS, high-voltage 
semiconductors, image sensors and mixed-signal CMOS chips. DALSA is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under 
the symbol “DSA” and has its corporate offices in Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.

DALSA consists of two core businesses:

Digital Imaging Products and Solutions (“Digital Imaging”) designs, develops and manufactures 
imaging products and solutions for a wide customer base. This includes image capture products (primarily 
high performance digital cameras for use in industrial, scientific, medical and professional applications) and 
image processing products (primarily hardware and software for image processing in industrial and 
medical applications).

Semiconductor Products and Services (“Semiconductor Business”) manufactures semiconductor 
   wafers and components for the electronics industry. DALSA’s Semiconductor Business comprises MEMS 
   wafer processing services, high voltage wafer processing services, CMOS wafer processing services, and 
   complete integrated circuit (IC) component products. The IC components business includes the image  

      sensor ICs (CCD and CMOS) developed, produced and sold by DALSA Professional Imaging in addition  
                    to certain fully packaged ASICs designed and manufactured by our semiconductor fabrication facility to  
             third parties. The Semiconductor Business also provides semiconductor processing services and imaging 
                    devices to our Digital Imaging business.

In 2008, DALSA closed its Woodland Hills, CA, cinema equipment rental facility and terminated or redeployed its Digital 
Cinema division staff and wound down its Digital Cinema business. Beginning in the third quarter of 2008, the results of 
operations and financial position of DALSA’s Digital Cinema business unit were segregated and presented separately as 
discontinued operations in the Company’s unaudited consolidated interim financial statements and in the 
accompanying annual consolidated financial statements for 2008. For more information, refer to the “Digital Cinema 
Initiative” section under “Strategic Business Initiatives” below. 

Further information on these businesses is provided in our Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 
2008. Current product information and specifications can be found on our website at www.dalsa.com.
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We have successfully employed our technology-driven strategy 
for over twenty-five years. We believe that our technology is the 
competitive engine of the Company. We continuously invest in 
the development of new technology and to grow our technology 
leadership position.

The breadth and depth of our R&D capabilities means that 
DALSA can span the gamut from fundamental research through 
breakthrough product development. Our R&D capacity and 
experience allows us to generate these advances internally, as 
well as effectively assimilate, refine, extend and commercialize 
technologies that we bring in through acquisitions or partnerships. 

We target market segments that have healthy growth rates and attractive competitive dynamics. We identify the needs of 
these markets and then introduce our technology into new products to meet those needs. Newly identified needs help to 
push new technology developments, and the cycle continues. We concentrate on introducing products with high value-
add, but with significant scope for our customers to also add their own value. Because we control our technology, we are 
able to introduce products that are unique and ahead of the competition.

Our Business Model:
The following table highlights the business model we work to achieve over the long term for the Company as a whole. 
Our target is to grow the revenue of the Company profitably in the long term through a combination of internal growth 
and acquisition. 
(as a percentage of revenue) 

R&D (net of government funding, investment tax credits and ASC revenue)                                    8-10%
Gross margin (% of standard product revenue)                                                                               40-45%
Selling, General and Administration                                                                                                  16-18% 
Property & equipment additions (excluding one time new business initiatives)                                8-10% 
Net Income after tax                                                                                                                        10 – 12%
Cash Flow from Operations                                                                                        Positive Each Quarter

Strategic Business Initiatives

Digital Cinema Initiative 
In April 2008, the Company’s board of directors authorized management to seek out strategic partnership opportunities 
for the Digital Cinema business. The objective of the board and management in this endeavour was to enhance the 
adoption rate of DALSA’s product offerings in the market through the financial and industry support that a well positioned 
strategic partner could offer. The Company engaged Genuity Capital Markets to assist management in identifying 
potential partners with the goal of completing a transaction before year end.

Our Strategy

Generate
New Technology

Identify Market
Segments with
High Growth Rates

Marketing of 
Technical Resource

Use Technology 
to Produce 

New Competitive Products

Competitive 
engine
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In October 2008, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Arnold & Richter Cine Technik GmbH 
(“ARRI”), a leading manufacturer of cinematography cameras. Under the terms of the LOI, ARRI would acquire certain 
existing assets of the DALSA Digital Cinema division. Concurrently, DALSA and ARRI would enter into a technology 
partnership agreement whereby DALSA will develop for ARRI custom high performance CCD image sensors and related 
products. The Company also announced that it would eliminate the ongoing losses from the Digital Cinema business 
prior to year end; however, there was no assurance that any transactions will be completed. In the Company’s unaudited 
consolidated interim financial statements for the third quarter the results of operations and financial position of DALSA’s 
Digital Cinema business unit were segregated and presented separately as discontinued operations. The Company took 
a $24.9 million after tax charge comprised of a non-cash charge of $21.7 million and a cash charge of $3.2 million.

Subsequent to year end, the Company announced that following the closure of its Woodland Hills, CA, cinema 
equipment rental facility and the termination or redeployment of the Digital Cinema division staff, the Company had 
wound down its Digital Cinema operations. The Company had failed to reach agreement with ARRI as to acceptable 
terms on a definitive agreement. As a result, the Company set aside discussions with ARRI and said it would pursue other 
alternatives to maximize the value of its Digital Cinema operations, with no guarantee that any of these alternatives would 
ultimately lead to a successful transaction. Additional provisions of $8.8M relating to the closure of Digital Cinema were 
taken in the fourth quarter of 2008. These included severance payments, provisions for lease obligations as well as a 
further write down of assets related to the Digital Cinema business given the termination of discussions with ARRI. These 
assets held for sale are recorded at management’s best estimate of their value. See Note 13 of the accompanying notes 
to the 2008 annual financial statements for further details.

Initiatives to Improve Operating Results in Core Businesses
In September 2007, we announced that we were undertaking a number of initiatives to facilitate net earnings of greater 
than 10% of sales in the Digital Imaging and Semiconductor businesses. These initiatives included divesting of our 
Colorado Spring operations, which was completed in April 2008; beginning the process of ceasing production of certain 
lower margin 100mm at our Semiconductor foundry in order to refocus on products with sustainable margins and higher 
growth; and reducing the Company workforce by 8% to 9%, through a combination of attrition, retirement, and selective 
termination. 

200mm MEMS Capability
Subsequent to the end of 2008, DALSA announced the launch of the first phase of a 200mm MEMS (micro electro 
mechanical systems) manufacturing line at its semiconductor wafer foundry in Bromont, Quebec, Canada. The larger 
200mm MEMS wafer size will allow DALSA to increase its production capacity and meet the growing demand from its 
customers to manufacture next generation MEMS chips that feature increased functionality, smaller package sizes, and 
lower costs. The increase in demand for MEMS accelerometers, gyros, microphones, and radio frequency devices is 
being driven largely by the explosive growth in consumer electronics devices including cell phones, PDAs, and game 
controllers. The 200mm MEMS initiative will require an investment over two years that is approximately $10 million above 
the Company’s model for sustaining capital expenditures. Management expects to finance this initiative through a 
combination of current working capital, future sales, secured funding from the province of Quebec, and existing banking 
facilities.

Normal Course Issuer Bid
For the Normal Course Issuer Bid that commenced on August 23, 2007 and expired on August 22, 2008, we repurchased 
and cancelled 693,133 shares at a weighted average price of $9.31 per share.
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In September 2008, we received approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) to acquire for cancellation, by way 
of Normal Course Issuer Bid, up to 927,811 Common Shares of the Company, which, as of August 31, 2008, represented 
approximately 5% of the issued and outstanding shares. The new Bid commenced on September 11, 2008 and will expire 
on September 10, 2009. Since implementing the new bid, we repurchased and cancelled 150,900 shares at a weighted 
average purchase price of $6.02.

Quarterly Dividend
On July 31 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors declared an initial quarterly dividend of $0.05 per common share to all 
shareholders of record. Subsequent quarterly dividends were declared on October 30, 2008 and subsequent to year end
on January 29, 2009.

Selected Annual Information

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)                        2008                  2007                     2006

Standard product sales                                                               $188.2               $163.7                   $170.5
Application Specific Contract (“ASC”) revenue                             $17.8                  $14.1                    $14.2      
Total revenue                                                                                $206.0               $177.8                    $184.8      
Total Net income from continuing operations                               $21.9                   $9.2                     $17.2   
Discontinued operations                                                               ($40.5)                 ($7.5)                    ($5.6)      
Total net income                                                                             ($18.6)                   $1.8                     $11.6 
EPS from continuing operations – diluted                                     $1.17                 $0.49                     $0.91 
EPS from discontinued operations – diluted                               ($2.17)               ($0.40)                   ($0.30)
Total EPS - diluted                                                                        ($1.00)                 $0.09                      $0.61
Total assets                                                                                  $237.3                 $240.4                   $204.2
Total financial liabilities                                                                    $50.9                 $35.3                     $32.3
Cash dividends declared per share                                              $0.10                         -                             -

In 2008, a combination of improving end market conditions in the first three quarters, strong contribution from new 
products and processes, a stabilization of the Canadian dollar in the first three quarters, and initiatives designed to 
improve operating results contributed to a strong improvement in all the significant financial metrics of the company 
relative to 2007. 

The marked increase in financial liabilities from 2007 to 2008 is the result of our decision to cease operations of our Digital 
Cinema business unit in 2008 in addition to the recording of purchase commitments subject to financial instruments 
guidelines.
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Results of operations

Revenues
                                                                                                          Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars)                 2008               2007            % Change   

Digital Imaging
Standard products                                                                    $110.1              $93.6                    17.6%
Application Specific Contracts (“ASC”)                                           8.4                   6.5                   29.2
Total Digital Imaging 118.5 100.1 18.4

Semiconductor Business
Standard products                                                                        78.1                 70.1                  11.4
Application Specific Contracts (“ASC”)                                          9.4                    7.6                   23.7
Total Semiconductor                                                                  87.5                 77.7                  12.6
Total Revenues from continuing operations                            $206.0           $177.8                   15.9% 

Total revenues from continuing operations were $206.0 million in 2008 compared to $177.8 million in the prior year, an 
increase of 15.9%. In the first three quarters of the year both businesses benefited from strong product demand and 
a relatively stable Canadian dollar. In the fourth quarter, we saw a drop in revenues, particularly in Digital Imaging, as 
sales were muted by the effects of the world-wide economic situation. Management expects the current economic 
downturn to impact demand during the first half of 2009, with modest improvements in the latter half of the year.  
Management is continuously assessing the impact of the current environment on its business and expects to have 
formal reviews quarterly in order to assess the potential impact on operations.

Management’s strategy to focus on opportunities where we can grow revenues through increased market share 
(vs. relying upon market growth as an existing player) has been effective in light of the economic challenges facing 
many industries. As a result, we continue to see strong sales of new standard products and processes both in Digital 
Imaging and Semiconductor. Many of these are targeted at markets where DALSA has not previously participated, 
hence providing new revenue opportunities in spite of pressures on many markets in general. The impact for DALSA 
has been a lessening of the impact of retracting markets in Digital Imaging, and continued opportunity for net revenue 
growth within Semiconductor. In spite of the success of this strategy, management expects that the current economic 
pressures will create a negative trend in total revenues over the short to medium term.
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Digital Imaging Revenue by End Market in Million of Cdn$
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Digital Imaging revenues in 2008 were $118.5 million, up 18.4% from 2007. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2007, 
we began to see a return of strong demand from flat panel display inspection OEMs. Flat panel display inspection is 
included above in the Semiconductor Inspection end market. This demand continued through to the third quarter of 2008, 
then decreased in the fourth quarter in reaction to the world-wide economic situation. We also saw a significant increase 
in shipments during the year in the Machine Vision/Industrial segment, most of which was fueled by an increase in sales 
of new products. 

To counteract the effects of the world-wide economic slowdown, we are actively focusing on markets with less sensitivity 
to the economic downturn such as life sciences, defense and security, aerospace, and intelligent traffic management. 
As a specific initiative, we successfully implemented a program in the Digital Imaging business to redeploy resources 
to Application Specific Contracts (“ASC”) projects to replace lost standard products revenue. Since implementing the 
program, we have signed several significant development contracts, some in the fourth quarter, which contributed to a 
near doubling of the quarter’s ASC backlog at the end of the year, as well as subsequent to year end. Several of these 
projects will begin accruing revenue in the first quarter of 2009 and we expect that these new orders will offset some of 
the downturn we are seeing in our more traditional markets within the Digital Imaging business.
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Semiconductor Business Revenue by End Market in Million of Cdn$
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Semiconductor Business revenues were $87.5 million, up 12.6% from 2007. This increase was due to strong shipments of 
MEMS wafers as well as image sensor chips. 

In the fourth quarter of the year, in spite of overall worldwide economic challenges, we generated record MEMS revenues 
as we continued to see strong demand from our MEMS customers. Late in the year, we received several new MEMS 
supply contracts for delivery of product in 2009 and for new product development. Subsequent to the end of the year, we 
also announced the first phase of our new 200mm MEMS line, which will allow us to meet the growing demand from our 
customers for the manufacture of next generation MEMS chips that will feature increased functionality, smaller package 
sizes, and lower costs. The increase in demand for MEMS accelerometers, gyros, microphones, and radio frequency 
devices is being driven largely by the explosive growth in the use of MEMS devices to add new functionality and replace 
older technology in consumer electronics devices including cell phones, PDAs, and game controllers. 

In our Professional Imaging group, which develops and produces CCD and CMOS image sensor chips, we significantly 
extended our leadership position in the strategic professional digital still camera marketplace this year. Our image sensor 
chips, which are based on our technologically advanced and highly sensitive CCD technology, are being designed into 
new products from the leading digital camera back manufacturers.

Our revenues by geographic region are comprised of:

   Year ended % of Year ended % of              % change 2008
(in millions of dollars) Dec. 31, 2008 total              Dec. 31, 2007                       total                        over 2007  

North America $95.0 46.1% $86.7 48.8%    9.6% 
Europe, Middle East $55.3 26.9% $49.9 28.0%                              10.8%  
Asia Pacific  $55.7 27.0%  $41.2 23.2% 35.2% 
Total Revenues $206.0  $177.8                              15.9%
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The most significant increase in 2008 compared to 2007 occurred in the Asia/Pacific region. The 35.2% revenue increase 
resulted from a strong comeback in demand from flat panel display inspection OEMs. This demand continued through to 
the third quarter of 2008, then decreasing in the fourth quarter in reaction to the world-wide economic situation.  

Backlog

                                                          Dec. 31                     Dec. 31  
(in millions of dollars)               2008                          2007

Digital Imaging
Standard products              $20.9                         $21.9
Application Specific Contracts                12.7                             6.6
Total Digital Imaging                33.6                           28.5

Semiconductor Business                                                     46.6                           51.4
Total backlog             $80.2                         $79.9

Although the Company-wide backlog at the end of 2008 increased only slightly from 2007 to $80.2 million, the distribution 
of bookings has changed. For example, the Digital Imaging standard products backlog is down slightly due to delays 
and some cancellation of orders. However, the Application Specifics Contracts backlog almost doubled compared to 
the end of last year. This is a result of an initiative we undertook in the fourth quarter of 2008 to actively pursue additional 
ASC contracts through redeployment of resources to replace delayed standard products revenue. We were successful 
in signing several significant contracts in the fourth quarter and also subsequent to year end. Although these contracts 
are generally longer term in nature, several of the contacts will begin accruing revenue in the first quarter of 2009 and 
throughout the year.

In the Semiconductor business, our backlog decreased compared to last year as we made shipments throughout 2008 
against some unusually long term purchase orders that were included in the backlog at the end of 2007. The backlog at 
the end of 2008 also includes a higher proportion of MEMS orders including significant orders we received from several 
MEMS customers late in the fourth quarter for delivery throughout 2009 and for new product developments.

Management expects that the current economic conditions may lead to a deterioration in the backlog in future quarters.

Backlog is a non-GAAP measure and as such the amount disclosed is not included in the results of operations of the 
Company for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Net Income

                                                                    Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars except EPS)    2008 2007  Change 

Digital Imaging net income   $13.7 $11.7                 17.1%
Semiconductor Business net income     $8.3        ($2.5)               432.0%
Total net income from continuing operations   $21.9 $9.2                138.0% 
Discontinued operations  ($40.5)        ($7.5)             (440.0%)
Total net income   ($18.6) $1.8            (1133.3%)

Earnings per share, basic and diluted –        $1.17         $0.49              138.8%
from continuing operations

Earnings per share, basic and diluted –        ($2.17)     ($0.40)          (442.5%)
from discontinued operations

Total earnings per share-basic and diluted       ($1.00)       $0.09          (1211.1%)

1. Digital Imaging net income in 2007 included a net after tax gain of $6.2 million from the sale of land in Waterloo.

Our net earnings for the year from continuing operations were $21.9 million, a 138.0% increase from 2007. The higher 
profitability in 2008 relative to 2007 resulted from a combination of strong product demand, increased stability in the 
Canadian dollar in the first three months of the year, and initiatives we undertook beginning in the fourth quarter of 2007 to 
increase the operating results of the Company. 

Net income in the Digital Imaging business increased 17.1% to $13.7 million. 2007 earnings results included $6.2 million 
after tax gain resulting from the sale of land that was included in Digital Imaging results. The increase for 2008 was largely 
a result of higher revenues, improved product mix, and increased operating efficiencies. In the Semiconductor Business, 
net income was $8.3 million, up from a loss of $2.5 million in 2007. The increase is a result of increased revenues,
significantly improved product mix, and a more stable Canadian dollar.

Gross margin on standard products

                                                                            Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 Change 

Digital Imaging gross margin $57.2 $46.9                22.0%
Digital Imaging gross margin %                             52 .0%             50.1%                1.9pp

Semiconductor Business gross margin $27.9              $16.8               66.1%
Semiconductor Business gross margin %             35.7%             24.0%               11.7pp
 
Total gross margin from continuing operations $85.1              $63.7                33.6%

Total gross margin %                                            45.2%              38.9%                6.3pp 
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Our standard product gross margins in 2008 were 45.2%, up 6.3 percentage points from 2007, and slightly above our 
target range of 40% to 45% of revenues. The increase is due to higher revenues, better product mix, improved operating 
efficiency, and the positive effects of a more stable Canadian dollar in the first three quarters of the year. In the fourth 
quarter, overall margins dipped to the lower end of our target range as we experienced lower demand in Digital Imaging 
standard products due to the effects of the global economic slowdown. 

Digital Imaging gross margin was 1.9 percentage points higher than in 2007 and reflected the higher levels of shipments 
and improved product mix. Gross margins in the Semiconductor Business increased significantly in 2008 to 35.7% from 
24.0% in 2007 due to higher sales levels, more favourable product mix, and improved yield for certain products. This is 
despite a greater percentage of engineering expenses related to MEMS pre-production activities being included in cost 
of sales as a production cost in 2008 compared to 2007.

Management believes that gross margins will be largely dependent on product mix and overall sales levels rather than 
being dependent on product pricing and costs. Due to volume-independent fixed manufacturing costs, a reduction in 
sales levels can be expected to drop gross margin as a percent of sales.

Research and development (“R&D”)

                                               Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars)   2008             2007 % Change

Total Gross R&D expenditures $39.3 $37.5 4.8% 
% of total revenue 19.1% 21.1%            (2.0pp)

Digital Imaging Net R&D1  $10.0 $9.7 3.3%
% of Digital Imaging revenue 8.4% 9.7%            (1.3pp)
 
Semiconductor Business net R&D1 $4.6 $7.6              (39.5%)
% of Semiconductor Business revenue 5.3% 9.8%           (4.5pp) 

Total Net R&D1 $14.6 %  $17.3              (15.5%)

% of total revenue 7.1% 9.7%            (2.6pp)     

1 Net R&D consists of gross R&D less Application Specific Contracts revenue, government grants and Investment Tax Credits. 

Gross R&D increased in 2008 due largely to an increase in customer-funded ASC revenue in both parts of the business. 
Net R&D decreased from 9.7% in 2007 to $7.1% of revenue, which is below our targeted business model of 8% to 10% of 
total revenues. Net R&D in Digital Imaging was up slightly to $10.0 million, while net R&D in the Semiconductor business 
decreased by $3.0 million to $4.6 million. The drop in net R&D in the Semiconductor business was due to increased ASC 
revenue in addition to a greater percentage of MEMS engineering expenses included in cost of sales as a production 
cost in 2008 compared to 2007.
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Net R&D is a non-GAAP measure. The following table reconciles net R&D to GAAP R&D expenditures as presented in the 
results of operations of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2008.

                                                            Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars)                                                                                      2008                    2007

Total Net R&D                      $14.6                    $17.3
ASC Revenue                       $17.8                    $14.1
R&D expenditures per results of operations                                                       $32.4                    $31.4 

Other expenses
                                                                                                          Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars)  2008 2007      Change

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) $40.3   $34.5        16.8%
SG&A % of total revenue                19.6%                 19.4%         0.2pp
Foreign exchange gain (loss)    $4.8                   ($1.9)      352.6%
Income tax rate                30.6%                28.8%          1.8pp  

Selling, General and Administrative
SG&A expenses were $40.3 million in 2008, up 16.8% from 2007 and represented 19.6% of revenue. Overall, SG&A was 
higher in 2008 as DALSA experienced a growth in sales. The corresponding increases in commissions and profit sharing 
led to this increase year over year.

Foreign Exchange 
We realized a foreign exchange gain of $4.8 million in 2008, compared to a foreign exchange loss of $1.9 million in 2007. 
$3.3 million of the gain occurred in the fourth quarter of 2008, as we saw a sharp drop in the value of the Canadian dollar 
relative to the US dollar. The foreign exchange gain is due to the revaluation of net monetary assets, in addition to, but to 
a lesser extent, the translation of integrated foreign subsidiaries.

At December 31, 2008, we had outstanding forward contracts with a notional value of US $87.0 million maturing on or 
before May 31, 2010, at an average exchange rate of $ 1.0383. As at December 31, 2008, the fair value of these forward 
contracts was an unrealized loss of $15.3 million. Of this amount, $1.8 million was recorded as a loss in the fourth quarter, 
as the forward currency contracts, to which the amount relates, hedge the foreign currency exposure of recognized 
accounts receivables. The remaining $13.5 million is expected to be recorded as losses in future periods as set out in 
the following table on the assumption that there are no changes in foreign exchange rates. These anticipated losses 
effectively decrease the Company’s revenue by the amount of the gain/loss in the particular quarter.
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                                                                                         Fiscal 2009                                              Fiscal 2010
(in millions of dollars)                   Mar. 31               June 30               Sept. 30                Dec. 31                Mar. 31               Total

Anticipated future losses                  $3.9                     $3.3                     $3.2                     $2.0                      $1.1              $13.5  
on cash flow hedges1

1The fair value of currency forward contracts have been estimated using observable market inputs including but not limited to quoted currency spot rates, 
the coupon rate yield curve, quoted forward currency exchange rates, and reflect the Company’s assessment of counterparty credit risk, and have been 
presented as foreign exchange assets or liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet. The amount of the total loss is calculated as at December 31 2008 and 
is subject to change such that it may not actually represent the losses that are realized by the Company in the future.

We are exposed to credit risk on forward contracts arising from the potential for counterparties to default on their 
contractual obligations to us. We minimize this risk by limiting counterparties to these contracts to Canadian Schedule A 
Chartered Banks. 

Income Tax Rate
For 2008, our tax rate was 30.6%, which is just below our normal range of 31% to 34%. In 2007 the income tax rate was 
impacted by the non-taxable portion of the gain on the sale of land and by provisions required for foreign exchange 
exposures which are not directly related to pre-tax earnings. We anticipate that the effective tax rate (without foreign 
exchange impacts) will be in the range of 31% to 34% in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

             Dec. 31        Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars)               2008            2007         Change

Net cash position (cash and cash 
equivalents, marketable securities) $12.4 $9.7 27.8% 
Accounts receivable 29.0 24.7 17.4%
Inventory 43.4 31.5 37.7%
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 39.5 18.7 111.9%
 

                                                             
                                                                                       Twelve months ended Dec. 31
(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 % Change

Cash provided by operating activities $24.1 $9.5 152.8%
Property and equipment additions  $9.4  $10.0              (5.4%)

Our net cash position increased $2.7 million to $12.4 from the end of 2007. During the same period, our accounts 
receivable balance increased 17.4% to $29.0 million and our inventory increased 37.7% to $43.4 million. For 2008, we 
generated $24.1 million in cash from operations, an increase of 152.8% from 2007. This increase is largely due to higher 
profitability.
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Working capital management continues to be an important element of cash generation for the Company. During 2008, 
Management continued to generate positive cash flow from operations. Accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
inventory levels have all increased year over year with the corresponding increase in sales. Management expects that 
receivables are collectible and that payments to suppliers will also continue under current terms. Management expects 
that accounts receivable, accounts payable and inventory levels will decline in the early part of 2009 as sales levels soften 
due to current economic conditions.  

Management is expecting to increase its level of investment in property and equipment additions during 2009 versus 
2008, particularly as a result of our decision to expand our 200mm MEMS capability. The 200mm MEMS initiative will 
require an investment over two years that is approximately $10 million above the Company’s model for sustaining capital 
expenditures.

Management expects that these additions will be financed through a combination of current working capital, future sales, 
secured funding from the province of Quebec, and existing banking facilities.   

The Company sponsors a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for its employees in the Netherlands. Defined 
contribution plan accounting is applied to the multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. The plan has 91 members. 
The plan administrator recently indicated that its assets are funded to 96% of its legal requirement. We expect our 
pension contributions to this multi-employer plan to increase by 9% in 2009 to $1.4 million.

We have credit facilities with our banks of $65.0 million including operating facilities of $40.0 million, $15.0 million in 
treasury risk management facilities to facilitate hedging of interest and currency related risks arising in the normal course 
of operations and a $10.0 million facility to finance capital expenditures. Under these facilities, we are required to maintain 
certain financial ratios which have been met as of December 31, 2008. As at December 31, 2008, we had drawn $7.9 
million on our operating facility, $15.0 million on our treasury risk management facilities, $3.5 million on our acquisition 
facility, and nil on our facility to finance capital expenditures.

We believe that cash on hand, existing bank facilities and cash flow from operating activities will be sufficient to fund 
currently anticipated working capital, planned capital spending, new business initiatives and debt service requirements 
for the next twelve months.

Contractual obligations
                                                                                                                         Payments Due by Period
                 2010 and          2012 and
(in millions of dollars) Total              2009                 2011        2013     Thereafter

Long-term debt $11.4 $3.3 $8.1 $— $—
Operating leases 11.1 3.3 4.9 2.7 0.2
Purchase obligations 25.6 23.3 2.1 0.2 —
Total contractual obligations $48.1 $29.9 $15.1 $2.9 $0.2
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Under the current credit facility between the Company and its lender, all long term debt is due September 30, 2010. 
However, the Company can request a one year extension, which may be granted at the lender’s discretion. It is 
Management’s expectation that this extension will be granted.

In July 2008, the Company’s board of directors authorized an initial dividend of $0.05 per common share. Subsequent 
dividends of $0.05 per common share were authorized in October 2008 and again in January 2009.

The Company plans to fund its contractual commitments through a combination of current working capital, future sales, 
and existing banking facilities.

Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)                  

          
                                                                                                                                             Fiscal 2008 (unaudited)
(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 March 31

Standard product  $41.2 $47.9 $48.9 $50.2  
ASC  $5.0 $4.8 $4.1 $4.0
Total revenue $46.2 $52.6 $53.0 $54.2
Net income continuing operations $4.3 $6.0 $5.9 $5.7
Loss from discontinued operations                                                         ($10.1)                    ($26.6)                 ($2.0)                 ($1.9)
Net income                                                                                                ($5.8)                   ($20.6) $3.9 $3.8
Earnings per share, basic and diluted – from continuing operations         $0.23                      $0.32                  $0.31                  $0.30
Earnings per share, basic and diluted from discontinued operations       ($0.54)                   ($1.42)               ($0.10)                ($0.10)
Total earnings per share-basic and diluted                                               ($0.31)                   ($1.10)                 $0.21                 $0.20

                                                                                                                                      Fiscal 2007 (unaudited)   
   Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 March 31

Standard product  $42.8 $36.7 $43.3 $41.1  
ASC  $4.1 $2.6 $3.8 $3.5
Total revenue $46.9 $39.3 $47.1 $44.6
Net income continuing operations $4.1 $1.3 $1.9 $1.9
Loss from discontinued operations                                                          ($1.8)                      ($2.1)                 ($1.9)                 ($1.7)
Net income $2.3                       ($0.8) $0.0 $0.2
Earnings per share, basic and diluted – from continuing operations          $0.22                      $0.07                 $0.10                  $0.10
(Loss) per share, basic and diluted from discontinued operations            ($0.10)                   ($0.11)               ($0.10)               ($0.09)
Total earnings per share-basic and diluted                                                 ($0.12)                    ($0.04)                 $0.00                  $0.01
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Historically, our operating results have fluctuated on a quarterly basis and we expect that quarterly financial results will 
continue to fluctuate in the future. Fluctuations in results relate to the timing of ASC revenue and of standard product 
sales to OEM customers, which may place large single orders in any one quarter, and to the timing of staffing and 
infrastructure changes.

Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments are classified into one of the following categories: held for trading, held-to-maturity 
investments, available-for-sale, loans and receivables and other financial liabilities. The Company has also designated 
some of its derivatives as effective hedges. The following table summarizes information regarding the carrying values of 
the Company’s financial instruments:

(in millions of dollars)                                   Dec. 31 2008        Dec. 31 2007

Held for trading (1)     $12.5                 $9.7
Available for sale (2)                    -                     $0.05
Loans and receivables (3)    $29.8               $25.5
Other financial liabilities (4)    $50.9               $35.3

(1)  Cash and marketable securities
(2)  Represents investment in a public company that was written off during the second quarter of 2008. 
(3)  Accounts receivable and loans receivable
(4)  Accounts payable and long term debt

Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, other assets, as well as accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are short term financial instruments whose fair values approximate their respective carrying amounts 
due to their short maturities. The fair value of marketable securities is based on quoted market prices for active markets. 
The fair value of currency forward contracts have been estimated using observable market inputs including but not limited 
to quoted currency spot rates, the coupon rate yield curve, quoted forward currency exchange rates, and reflect the 
Company’s assessment of counterparty credit risk. The fair value of the currency forward contracts has been presented 
as foreign exchange assets or liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company limits counterparties to forward 
currency contracts to Canadian Schedule A Chartered Banks.

The fair value of long term debt is equivalent to its carrying value since it is floating rate debt and its interest rate is 
comparable to the market rate available to the Company.

Based on current interest rates for loans with similar terms to similar customers, the fair value of the long term note 
receivable is estimated to be equal to $0.6 million.
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Interest Rate Risk
The Company’s exposure to risk in market interest rates relates to its bank credit facilities and long term debt which 
bear interest at floating rates and in its marketable securities which bear interest. As the Company’s debt is based upon 
the prime rate of interest, changes in the prime rate of interest impact the total interest expense of the Company. The 
Company manages this risk through review, on a regular basis, of alternative sources of funding and assesses if its 
interest bearing debt reflects current market rates. The Company does not manage this risk through the use of derivative 
financial instruments.

The recognized interest expense for the Company’s long term debt for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $0.4 
million. It is estimated that net income will fluctuate $0.1 million for every 1% change in the prevailing rates of interest 
assuming all the other variables will be held constant.

Marketable securities are invested in separate investments with fixed rates of interest and varying maturities exposing 
the Company to interest rate risk on these financial instruments. All marketable securities have remaining maturities of 
less than one year. The Company’s objective with regard to these investments is to minimize liquidity and credit risk while 
maximizing the interest income earned. The Company does not use financial instruments to mitigate this risk. 

The recognized interest income for the Company’s marketable securities for the year ended December 31, 2008 $0.13 
million. It is estimated that net income will fluctuate $0.06 million for every 1% change in the prevailing rates of interest 
assuming all the other variables will be held constant. 

Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk in its cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, 
other receivables and to the counterparty credit risk of its derivative financial instruments if counterparties do not meet 
their obligations. As the Company does not utilize credit derivatives or similar instruments, the maximum exposure 
to credit risk is the full carrying value of the financial instrument or face value of open derivative financial instruments. 
Recent events in the global financial markets continue to have an impact on the global economic environment. These 
events are not directly related to the Company or the industry in which it operates, however, there may be an impact on 
the Company over the course of time. It is possible that reduced economic activity may adversely affect the Company’s 
operating results and financial condition through, among other matters, increased credit risk surrounding the Company’s 
financial instruments.

The Company minimizes the credit risk of cash by depositing only with reputable financial institutions independently rated 
parties represented by Schedule A Canadian Banks. The Company minimizes the credit risk of marketable securities 
by investing in securities that meet minimum requirement credit rating as stipulated by the Company’s investment 
policy which requires the Company to invest only in short term (less than 90 days), low risk, easily convertible to cash 
investments such as government treasury bills. The Company does not invest in high risk speculative investments. This 
limits its exposure to any one financial institution, commercial issuer or investment type.

Credit risk on accounts receivable and other receivables is minimized by performing credit reviews, on-going credit 
evaluation and account monitoring procedures. The Company assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into 
account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual credit limits are set based on internal or 
external credit ratings. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. All of the Company’s receivables have been 
reviewed for indicators of impairment. Furthermore, the Company regularly contacts customers who have outstanding 
past due balances. The carrying value of accounts receivable is reduced to the amount expected to be collected through 
the use of an allowance when the Company, after a consideration of all of the facts considers that it will not collect the full 
amount of the account receivable balance. When a receivable balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Of the Company’s receivables $2.9 million are past due. The definition of items that are past due is determined by 
reference to terms agreed with individual customers During the year, the provision for doubtful accounts increased by 
$0.25 million, mainly due to the depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar and Euro.

The following is aging schedule for accounts receivable as of December 31, 2008:

(in millions of dollars)

0 to 30 days                                                               $15.9
30 to 60 days   $8.3
60 to 90 days   $2.9
Greater than 90 days   $1.9
Total                                                                             $29.0

As of December 31, 2008, there was one customer who individually comprised greater than 10% of the consolidated 
accounts receivable balance. This customer accounted for 12% of all accounts receivable. No one customer accounted 
for more than 10% of revenue for the full year 2008.

For currency forward contracts, the Company limits counterparties to these contracts to Canadian Schedule A Chartered 
Banks and regularly reviews the risk if counterparty credit risk of these financial institutions based upon information 
disclosed publicly by the counterparty.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company operates in Canada, the United States of America, Europe and Asia. The Company’s financial results are 
reported in its functional currency, Canadian dollars. The Company generates the majority of its revenues in US dollars, 
which exceeds the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services denominated in US dollars. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from fluctuations and degree of volatility in foreign exchange rates relative to the Canadian dollar on 
amounts that are not covered by the natural hedge described above. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is 
primarily related to fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to that of the United States dollar, the European 
Euro and to a lesser degree Japanese Yen.

The objective of the Company’s foreign exchange risk management activities is to minimize transaction exposure and 
the degree of volatility of the Company’s earnings, arising from changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company 
manages its foreign currency risk by denominating sales transactions in US dollars to the maximum extent possible and 
through the use of foreign exchange contracts to sell US dollars. The Company does not actively use foreign exchange 
contracts to manage its risk related to exchange rate fluctuations between the European Euro and the Japanese Yen. 
The Company estimates its expected future US dollar denominated sales transactions for a period covering the next 
15 to 18 months and enters into forward foreign currency contracts that cover 40% to 50% of its anticipated US dollar 
denominated sales. At the inception of the forward currency contract and throughout its life, the Company assesses the 
effectiveness of the forward currency contract in mitigating the risk of fluctuations in exchange rate between the US dollar 
and the Canadian dollar. Forward currency contracts that are believed to be effective, and continue to be throughout their 
life, are designated as hedges.
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At December 31, 2008, the Company has outstanding forward contracts with a notional value of US$87.0 million [2007 
- US$96.1 million] maturing on or before May 31, 2010 at an average exchange rate of $1.0383 [2007 - $1.0702]. As at 
December 31, 2008, the fair value of these forward contracts was an unrealized loss of approximately $15.3 million. As 
at December 31, 2007 the fair value of outstanding forward contracts at that date was unrealized gains of approximately 
$7.5 million. The current portion of the financial liability of $14.2 million (2007 – asset of $7.1 million) is disclosed as a 
foreign exchange liability on the consolidated balance sheet and the long term portion of $1.0 million is disclosed as a 
long term foreign exchange liability (2007 – the long term asset of $0.4 million was included in long term other assets).

 For the year ended December 31, 2008, the change in fair market value of forward contracts was an unrealized loss of 
$10.7 million (2007 – unrealized gain of $7.2 million) net of income taxes of $6.9 million (2007 – $3.6 million) before the 
reclassification of $2.9 million gain on cash flow hedges (2007 – gain of $1.4 million) to revenue There was no ineffective 
portion recognized in the income statement during the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – Nil).

If the Canadian dollar depreciated by 1 cent against US dollar at December 31, 2008, with all other variables held 
constant, the impact of the foreign currency change on the US denominated financial instruments would lead to 
additional after tax net income of $0.08 million. If the Canadian dollar depreciated by 1 cent against the Euro at December 
31, 2008, with all other variables held constant, the impact of the foreign currency change on the Euro denominated 
financial instruments would lead to additional after tax net income of $0.01 million. For the year ended December 31, 
2008, the Company reported a foreign exchange gain of $4.8 million and for the year ended December 31, 2007, the 
Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of $1.9 million.  

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises through an excess of financial obligations over available financial assets at any point in time. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available resources in order to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity reserve 
(comprises undrawn borrowing facility, cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, 
management monitors balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external benchmarks. The Company currently 
settles its financial obligations out of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities. In order to meet its financial 
liabilities, the Company relies on collecting its accounts receivable in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash 
and cash equivalents and marketable securities in excess of anticipated needs. 

(in millions of dollars)

0 to 3 months      $26.3
3 months to 1 year   $15.2
1 year to 5 years     $9.5
Total    $50.9

It is the Company’s intention to meet these obligations through the collection of accounts receivable and the receipt 
of future progress payments on amounts not yet invoiced, as well as from current cash. In addition, the Company has 
available lines of credit and term loans of $42.1 million at December 31, 2008.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based upon management’s historical experience and various 
other assumptions that are believed by us to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such assumptions and estimates 
are evaluated on an ongoing basis and form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant estimates and assumptions used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from long-term application specific contracts (“ASC”), which relate to research and development contracts, 
is recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Under this method, revenue is recognized over the duration of the 
contract as tasks are completed. The difference between billings and revenue recognized is recorded as deferred or 
accrued revenue. For contracts where a portion of the payment is based on performance relative to established targets, 
provision for performance adjustments is included in revenue or cost estimates when amounts can reasonably be 
determined. Profit estimates on long-term contracts are revised periodically based on changes in circumstances and 
any losses on contracts are recognized in the period that such losses become known. The Company uses historical 
experience, project plans and an assessment of the risks and uncertainties inherent in the arrangement to establish 
these estimates. 

Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion 
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The allocation of fixed 
production overheads is based on the normal production capacity of the production facilities. Cost is determined on a 
first-in, first-out basis.

Our policy for the valuation of inventory, including the determination of obsolete or excess inventory, requires us to 
estimate the future demand for our products. Inventory purchases and purchase commitments are based upon 
such forecasts of future demand. The business environment in which we operate is subject to long lead-time order 
requirements for components and rapid changes in technology and customer demand. We perform a detailed 
assessment of inventory each reporting period, which includes a review of, among other factors, anticipated demand 
requirements, current inventory levels, component part purchase commitments and past usage. If customer demand 
subsequently differs from our forecasts, actual inventory write-offs could differ from our estimates. If we believe that 
demand no longer allows us to sell inventories above cost or at all, such inventory is written down to net realizable value 
or excess inventory is written off to cost of standard products sold. 

Goodwill, Intangible and Other Long Lived Assets
We complete our goodwill impairment test on an annual basis, during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year, or more 
frequently, if changes in facts and circumstances indicate that impairment in the value of goodwill recorded on our 
balance sheet may exist. In order to estimate the fair value of goodwill, we estimate the fair value of our reporting units 
typically by making an estimate in future revenue, consider market factors and estimate our future cash flows, which 
requires inherent assumptions surrounding costs and capital expenditures. Based on these key assumptions, judgments 
and estimates, we determine whether we need to record an impairment charge to reduce the value of our goodwill 
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carried on our balance sheet to its estimated fair value. Assumptions, judgments and estimates about future values are 
complex and often subjective. They can be affected by a variety of factors, including external factors such as industry 
and economic trends, and internal factors such as changes in our business strategy or our internal forecasts, all of 
which we consider in establishing the fair values for our reporting units. Additionally, these same factors are considered 
in establishing if our intangible and other long lived assets are recoverable. Although we believe the assumptions, 
judgments and estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate, different assumptions, 
judgments and estimates could materially affect our reported financial results.

Income Taxes
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax expense is 
recognized for the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year. In addition, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial 
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for operating losses. Investment tax credits generated through 
our scientific research and experimental development activities are recorded as assets when we have reasonable 
assurance that their amount will be used in the current and future taxation years. Management must make assumptions, 
judgments and estimates to determine our current provision for income taxes, the level of investment tax credits earned 
in a particular year and also our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance to be recorded against a 
deferred tax asset. 

Our assumptions, judgments and estimates relative to the current provision for income taxes take into account current 
tax laws, our interpretation of current tax laws and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by foreign 
and domestic tax authorities. We have established reserves for income taxes to address potential exposures involving 
tax positions that could be challenged by tax authorities. In addition, we are subject to the continual examination of our 
income tax returns by Canada’s Revenue Agency (“CRA”) and other domestic and foreign tax authorities, and we are 
currently under audit in relation to our transfer pricing practices between our Canadian and Dutch legal entities. Our 
submission for investment tax credits is also subject to acceptance by the CRA. Although we believe our assumptions, 
judgments and estimates are reasonable, changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of the 
current and any future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our consolidated 
financial statements.

Our assumptions, judgments and estimates relative to the value of the investment tax credit receivable and of our 
deferred tax asset take into account predictions of the amount and category of future taxable income, such as income 
from operations or capital gains. Actual operating results and the underlying amount and category of income in future 
years could render our current assumptions, judgments and estimates of recoverable investment tax credits and 
net deferred taxes inaccurate. Any of the assumptions, judgments and estimates mentioned above could cause our 
actual income tax obligations to differ from our estimates, thus materially impacting our financial position and results of 
operations.

Changes in Accounting Policies

Accounting Changes
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Section 1506, 
Accounting Changes. This standard establishes criteria for changes in accounting policies along with the accounting 
treatment and disclosure required upon adoption of new accounting policies, estimates and corrections of errors.  
The revised standard did not impact net earnings or financial position. 
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Inventory
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook Section 
3031, Inventory. The adoption of this new inventory standard requires changes for accounting of inventory including the 
requirement to allocate overhead costs based on normal production levels and changes to the definition of net realizable 
value. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact to the Company’s financial statements. 

The new inventory standard clarifies the definition of ‘cost’ to include all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. As a result, companies are 
required to systematically allocate fixed and variable production overheads that are incurred in converting materials into 
finished goods. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based on normal production capacity of the production 
facilities. In addition, the standard requires companies to assess the recoverability of inventory costs in comparison to 
net realizable value. Declines in replacement cost below carrying values for raw materials inventories do not require write 
downs if the finished goods in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. There was no 
impact of this change to the financial statements of the Company. 

Financial Instruments and Capital Disclosure
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments: disclosure; 
Section 3863, Financial Instruments: presentation; and Section 1535, Capital disclosures. These new standards establish 
additional presentation and disclosure requirements including the significance of financial instruments to the Company’s 
position and performance, discussion regarding the nature and extent of risks surrounding the Company’s financial 
instruments, disclosures regarding the Company’s objectives, policies and process for managing capital and what the 
company regards as capital. The adoption of these standards did not impact net earnings or financial position. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

International Financial Reporting Standards
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) has announced that Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable 
enterprise companies will be replaced with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) over a transition period 
expected to end in 2011. We will begin reporting our financial statements in accordance with IFRS on January 1, 2011.  

We have begun planning our transition to IFRS. During 2008, the Company carried out a diagnostic evaluation of all 
financial statement elements that would be impacted by the implementation of IFRS. The elements that will be impacted 
the most by the implementation of IFRS are income taxes, capital assets, business combinations and stock based 
compensation though we have not quantified that impact as at December 31, 2008.

The impact of the implementation of IFRS on the Company’s information systems, internal control over financial reporting, 
disclosure controls and procedures or business activities such as foreign currency hedging, debt covenants, capital 
requirements or compensation arrangements have not been determined at this time.  

The Company plans to fully assess the impact of IFRS on the above noted items and implement such changes as may 
be required to ensure that IFRS reporting is fully embedded in the Company’s operations by the end of 2009.
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Goodwill and Intangibles
In 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and intangible assets, replacing CICA Handbook Section 
3062, Goodwill and other intangible assets and CICA Handbook Section 3450, Research and development costs. The 
new Section will be applicable to the Company’s financial statements for its fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2009. It 
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill subsequent to its initial 
recognition and of intangible assets by profit oriented enterprises. Standards concerning goodwill are unchanged from 
the standards included in the previous Handbook Section 3062. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this 
new Section will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness, as at December 31, 2008, of DALSA’s disclosure controls and procedures and has 
concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures are effective, based on such evaluation.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the framework and criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that internal control over financial reporting was 
effective and that there were no material weaknesses in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008.

There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the year 
ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal controls over financial reporting.

Business Risks and Prospects

We are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could significantly affect our financial condition and 
performance. Historically, our operating results have fluctuated on a quarterly and annual basis and we expect that 
financial results will continue to fluctuate in the future. We have a comprehensive planning process to manage the 
fluctuations in our results and we identify and review risks on an on-going basis to minimize them where possible. Risks 
are reviewed and ranked based on their potential impact on our operating results or financial condition and the likelihood 
of their occurrence. Keys risks include, among others:

New Market Risks
We have targeted a number of strategic initiatives as part of our strategy for growth. These initiatives serve new markets 
and rely on the development of new technology. There can be no assurance that these markets will develop, that the 
technology development will be successful and appropriate for the markets and that our investment and efforts in these 
markets will be successful. Failure to succeed in these markets may adversely affect our future business, financial 
condition and operating results.
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Prior to any investment in these new strategic initiatives we carefully review the opportunities compared to the market, 
technology and financial risks. We review the various initiatives we have undertaken to ensure they are not interdependent 
and that together they diversify the overall risk to the Company instead of concentrating the risk in one underlying market 
or technology development. We monitor the market, technology and financial risks as the initiatives progress. We include 
the initiatives in our overall operational planning to determine the impact on our financial condition and operating results 
and whether we can achieve our business model targets.

Technological Change
We compete in markets which are highly competitive and characterized by rapid technological change and new product 
introductions. Our future operating results will depend upon our ability to improve and market existing products and 
to develop and successfully market new products. There is no assurance that we will be able to enhance our existing 
products or to develop new products in response to customer requirements or product introductions by competitors, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and prospects. 

We target to invest more than 8-10% of our total revenue in net expenditures on research and development. We monitor 
technological changes that impact our customers and markets to determine the appropriate areas to focus our R&D 
efforts. Where appropriate we add new technologies through strategic business initiatives or through acquisitions.

Customer Dependency and Credit Concentration
We have a large number of customers each of whom can shift buying patterns as they manage inventory, recognize 
changes in their markets or for other reasons. If one or more customers were to delay, reduce or cancel orders, the 
overall orders we receive may fluctuate and could adversely affect our business operations.

We continue to work to diversify our customer base and the markets we serve to limit the impact on our operations of 
changes in buying patterns of any one customer or market segment we serve. No customer accounted for more than 
10% of total revenue in 2008. 

Reliance on Key Manufacturing Equipment or Processes
We currently rely on a number of single-point of failure pieces of manufacturing equipment or processes within our 
Semiconductor Business. Any catastrophic failure of such equipment or processes could have a material adverse impact 
on our business through a loss of business, potential warranty or other claims or loss of reputation as a key supplier to 
our customers.

We identify our key manufacturing equipment and where appropriate maintain redundant equipment, spare components 
or service agreements with the manufacturers of the equipment. We monitor the results of our key manufacturing 
processes on an on-going basis to identify issues and have procedures to identify and correct the root causes on a 
timely basis.  

Cyclical Volatility
Historically the semiconductor and electronics markets have been characterized by wide fluctuations in supply and 
demand. Significant downturns in these markets can result in overcapacity throughout the industry and in our operations. 
Changes in demand can also result in the inventory we carry becoming excess or obsolete.

We reduce the risk and impact that this volatility will have on our results by limiting the growth in our infrastructure costs 
and closely monitoring the items we maintain in inventory and the purchase commitments we make. We also target to 
diversify our sales into different geographic regions world wide as the markets in different regions may not experience the 
volatility at the same time.
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Price Pressure from our Customers
We compete in markets which are highly competitive and where our customers require on-going improvement in the 
performance of our products relative to the price they pay. Changes in the average selling price of our products may 
adversely impact our financial results.

We continue to develop new leading performance products and technology so that our customers will make their 
purchase decision based on factors other than price. We target the pricing of our products so that our customers can 
add value in the end markets they serve. 

Currency Exchange Risk
We realize a significant portion of our revenue in United States dollars and incur a significant portion of our expenses in 
Canadian dollars. We are also exposed to rate fluctuations on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 
Increases in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the United States dollar, or other foreign currencies, could 
adversely affect our operating results. 

We have previously entered into forward exchange agreements in respect of certain transactions to hedge our US dollar 
foreign exchange exposure. The agreements give us time to adjust our operations to the new forward exchange levels; 
however, they cannot offset the long-term impact of foreign currency rate movements. Beginning in September 2007 we 
implemented initiatives to realize efficiencies in operations to maintain our margins.

Environmental, Health & Safety and Other Regulatory Changes
We are subject to a variety of laws, rules and regulations relating to the discharge and disposal of hazardous chemicals 
used in manufacturing processes and to the health and safety of our employees. We believe we are complying with these 
laws, rules and regulations in all material respects. Failure to comply with present or future regulations could result in legal 
claims, fines, suspension of production or we could be required to incur additional expenditures to achieve compliance.

We monitor on an on-going basis our compliance with existing regulations and evaluate the impact of proposed 
changes in regulations. Our normal capital expenditures and operating expenses include items for the maintenance and 
improvement of our existing environmental and health & safety systems. We regularly train our employees on the related 
procedures.

We are also impacted by regulations on the general categories of products we manufacture, the geographic regions or 
countries we sell to, and the specific market segments we target. An example is the Reduction in Hazardous Substances 
(RoHS) Directive issued by the European Union. We ensure that our newly developed products are RoHS compliant. 

Reliance on Certain Suppliers
We rely on third party suppliers for certain electronic components, other raw materials and manufacturing services 
used in our products. The loss of certain of these suppliers, or the inability of certain of these suppliers to deliver quality 
product to us on a timely basis, could have a material adverse affect on our business operations and prospects. 

We target to keep key technology and manufacturing knowledge internal to our Company. We seek to reduce exposure to 
single source suppliers through inventory maintenance either at our locations or with suppliers.

Disruption of Operations
Our manufacturing operations may be disrupted by fire, weather events or the loss of electrical power or the supply 
of water. Any such disruption may limit our ability to deliver product to our customers and could negatively impact our 
results.
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The diversification of our manufacturing operations at multiple locations and with third party suppliers reduces the 
potential impact of this risk. We continually monitor and update our contingency plans for manufacturing and maintain 
adequate insurance coverage to cover any reasonably foreseeable loss. 

Risks Inherent With Acquisitions
An element of our growth strategy is to review acquisition prospects that would complement our existing products, 
augment our markets or add new technologies. Future acquisitions could result in restructuring charges, potentially 
dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities and write-offs related to goodwill 
and other intangible assets, any of which could have a materially adverse affect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations and the market price of our common shares. There is no certainty that appropriate acquisitions 
will be available or that we will be able to secure financing for proposed acquisitions. Acquisitions involve numerous 
risks, including risks associated with the integration of acquired operations, technologies and products, diversion 
of management’s attention and potential loss of key employees of acquired organizations. We may not be able to 
successfully integrate the products, technologies or personnel of any acquired business.

Proprietary Rights
We rely, in part, on contracts, copyrights and patents to protect our proprietary technology. Although we have a number of 
United States and foreign patents, there can be no assurance that any such patents will provide meaningful protection for 
our product innovations. There can be no assurance that any steps taken will be adequate to deter the misappropriation 
of our technology or the independent third-party development of competing technologies. In addition, although we do 
not believe we are infringing on the intellectual property rights of others, claims of infringement are becoming increasingly 
common in the industry.

We enter into agreements with our application specific contract customers to retain our intellectual property rights. These 
agreements are designed to ensure that we retain full ownership of our sensor and electronic camera technology. We 
have guidelines and procedures in place to reduce the risk that confidential or proprietary information of DALSA or third 
parties is not inappropriately disclosed by our employees. We also have employment agreements with our employees 
that contain clauses that assign patent and invention ownership rights to DALSA and require confidentiality, non-
disclosure and non-competition.

Legal Claims
From time to time the Company is exposed to various legal claims in the normal course of operations. The Company 
deals with these based on the merits of the claim. At this time there are no material claims against the Company.

Outstanding Share Data

Details of the Company’s outstanding share data as of January 29, 2009 are as follows:

Common shares:    18,436,880 
Options on common shares:       513,000 

Each option is exercisable for one common share of the Company.
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Management’s Responsibility 
for Financial Reporting
To Our Shareholders:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of Management and have been approved 
by the Board of Directors of the Company. Management is responsible for and has prepared and presented the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada and has made 
any significant accounting judgements and estimates required. Management has ensured that financial information 
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Management has developed and maintains systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that reliable and relevant financial information is produced. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable 
assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records properly maintained to 
provide reliable financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements and ensuring 
management meets their financial reporting responsibilities.

The Audit Committee consists solely of directors who are not officers of the Company and reviews with Management and 
the external auditors the annual consolidated financial statements of the Company prior to submission to the Board of 
Directors for final approval. The Audit Committee also meets during the year with Management and the external auditors 
to discuss internal control issues, auditing matters, and financial reporting issues. External auditors have free access to 
the Audit Committee without obtaining prior Management approval.

The Shareholders have appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the external auditors of the Company and, in that 
capacity, they have examined the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. 
The Auditor’s report to the Shareholders is presented herein.

 

Brian Doody
Chief Executive Officer
DALSA Corporation

Wajid Ali
Chief Financial Officer
DALSA Corporation
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Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of DALSA Corporation:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of DALSA Corporation as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the 
consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings, shareholders equity and comprehensive income and cash 
flows for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2008. These consolidated financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in 
the two year period ended December 31, 2008 for in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Waterloo, Ontario, Canada,
January 28, 2009 
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                                                                                                                                                            2008                 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                                                                                               $                       $

Assets
Current
Cash                12,448               3,985
Marketable securities                       - 5,758
Accounts receivable              29,004             24,715
Accrued revenue                 4,325    606
Income tax credits recoverable              4,855 4,718
Inventory [note 2]               43,421             31,544
Future tax asset [note 7]                2,189 4,692
Foreign exchange asset [note 18]                       -   7,121
Assets held for sale [note 13]                          3,089 1,739
Other current assets                5,227 4,174
Total current assets                                       104,558           89,052

Property and equipment [note 5]            53,949             66,299
Deferred development costs [note 3]                       - 7,014
Intangible assets [note 4]             13,408             14,738
Goodwill               51,629             51,308
Income tax credits recoverable – long term              7,819 5,827
Future tax asset [note 7]                4,932 4,657
Other assets [note 6]                1,043 1,479

Total assets                                                                                                                                237,338          240,374

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities            35,849             18,657
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to discontinued operations           3,678         -
Income taxes payable                               4,859 3,005
Future tax liability [note 7]                                                                                                                         1,162 1,755
Foreign exchange liability [note 18]                                                                                                       14,262         -
Deferred revenue                                                                                                                                        2,756 1,965
Long-term debt due within one year [note 8]                                                                                        3,260 4,074
Total current liabilities                                                                                                               65,826            29,456

Future tax liability [note 7]                                                                                                                         8,181 9,173
Long-term debt [note 8]                                                                                                                        8,125             12,571
Foreign exchange liability [note 18]                                                                                                        1,040         -
Non-controlling interest                                                                                                                                 -     214
                                                                                                                        83,172           51,414
Commitments [note 14]  
Shareholders’ equity [note 15]  
Share capital             115,270           115,820
Contributed surplus                                                                                                                        1,942 1,530
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income                                                                                    (10,315) 2,675
Retained earnings                                                                                                                                      47,269             68,935
Total shareholders’ equity                          154,166          188,960

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity                                                                                  237,338          240,374

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board:

   Director       Director
   Savvas Chamberlain, M.Sc., Ph.D.,FIEE    David Buehlow, B.A., C.A.
   Executive Chairman and Chief Technology Officer    Chair of the Audit Committee
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                                                                                                                                                2008                                 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                                                                                   $                                       $

Revenue
Standard product sales               188,158                 163,704
Application specific contracts                                                                                              17,802                   14,119
Total revenue                                                                                                                         205,960                 177,823

  
Expenses  
Cost of standard product sales  103,071    99,980
Research and development, net [note 3]   32,415    31,450
Selling, general and administrative   40,330    34,500
Restructuring costs [note 12]     1,234     2,530
Amortization of intangibles [note 4]     2,165      1,998
Foreign exchange (gain) loss    (4,822)      1,933
   174,393 172,391
Income before undernoted   31,567     5,432
Gain on sale of land [note 10]             -     7,543
Interest expense (income), net [note 8]         (58)        (47)
Income before provision for income taxes and non-controlling interest   31,625   13,022
Provision for income taxes [note 7]     9,689     3,750
Income before non-controlling interest   21,936     9,272
Non-controlling interest            6          30
Net income from continuing operations   21,930     9,242
Loss from discontinued operations [note 13]   40,507     7,490
Net income                                                                                                                                      (18,577)                                1,752

Retained earnings, beginning of year   68,935   68,104
Dividends    (1,859)             -
Repurchase of common shares [note 15]    (1,230)       (921)                         
Retained earnings, end of year   47,269   68,935
  
Earnings per share [note 16]  
Basic and diluted-from continuing operations       1.17     0.49
Basic and diluted-from discontinued operations      (2.17)    (0.40)
Basic and diluted      (1.00)     0.09
Weighted average number of shares outstanding [in thousands]-Basic   18,685   18,987
Weighted average number of shares outstanding [in thousands]-Diluted   18,724   19,030

See accompanying notes
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                                                                          Accumulated Other                                       Total 
                                           Share                      Contributed            Comprehensive          Retained     Shareholders’ 
                                          Capital                      Surplus                  Income Loss             Earnings                Equity

As at December 31, 2006                    116,947                            1,084                         (1,390)                      68,104                  184,745
Opening Balance adjustment                                            (1,494)                                                    (1,494)
for adoption of financial 
instruments standards    
Balance at January 1, 2007              116,947                            1,084                         (2,884)                      68,104                  183,251
Share capital issued [note 15]                1,138                                      1,138
Shares repurchased under                    (2,385)                                               (921)                   (3,306) 
normal course issuer bid [note 15]  
Stock-based compensation                        120                               446                                       566

Comprehensive income     
Other comprehensive income:     
    Currency translation (loss)                                               (251)                                    (251)
    Gain on cash flow hedges                                              7,225                                    7,225
    Reclassification to earnings of gains on cash flow hedges                                          (1,415)                                                   (1,415)
Net income for the period                                                1,752                        1,752
Total comprehensive income                                       7,311
Balance, December 31, 2007           115,820                          1,530                         2,675                      68,935                188,960

Share capital issued [note 15]                 2,298                                      2.298
Shares repurchased under normal      
    course issuer bid [note 15]               (2,848)                                                                          (1,230)                     (4,078)
 Stock-based compensation                                                      412                                       412
Dividends paid                                            (1,859)                     (1,859)

Comprehensive income (loss)     
Other comprehensive income:     
   Currency translation gain                                                 618                                      618
   (Loss) on cash flow hedges                                                                                   (10,702)                                (10,702)
   (net of taxes of $4,868)
   Reclassification to income of  gains on cash flow hedges                                             (2,906)                                                    (2,906)
Net (Loss) for the period                                          (18,577)                   (18,577)
Total comprehensive loss                                   (31,567)
As at December 31, 2008                  115,270                            1,942                       (10,315)                     47,269                   154,166

For the period ended December 31, 2008, comprehensive loss is $31,567 (December 31, 2007 – gain of $7,311), comprised of the net loss for the 
period of $18,577 (December 31, 2007 – income of  $1,752) and the decrease in accumulated other comprehensive income of $12,990 
(December 31, 2007 – increase of $5,559).

As at December 31, 2008, the total of retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income was $36,954 
(December 31, 2007 - $71,610).  

See accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
As at December 31

     
     
                                                                                                                                              2008                                   2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                                                                                 $                                          $

Operating Activities
Net income from continued operations 21,930   9,242
Add (deduct) non-cash items:  
Depreciation 11,023 10,962
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment      148  (7,500)
Impairment (gain) loss on equipment      (29)      785
Impairment loss on investment      174           -
Amortization of intangible assets   2,165   1,998
Future income taxes      (13)   1,954
Stock based compensation      412      566
Non-controlling interest          6        30
Changes in operating assets and liabilities [note 22]  (1,584)  (1,019)
Cash provided by continuing operating activities 34,232 17,018
Cash (used in) discontinued operating activities [note 13]                                                           (10,111)  (7,477)
   24,121   9,541
Investing Activities  
Decrease (increase) in marketable securities   5,758  (5,758)
Proceeds on sale of property and equipment        86 11,376
Property and equipment additions  (9,433)  (9,970)
Acquisition of controlling interest in Rad-Icon Imaging Corp  (1,034)           -
Cash used in discontinued investing activities  (2,071)  (4,173)
Cash (applied to) investing activities  (6,694)  (8,525)

Financing Activities  
Issuance of share capital   2,298   1,138
Payment of dividends (1,859)           -
Shares repurchased under normal course issuer bid (4,078)  (3,306)
Borrowings under credit facility           -   5,100
Decrease in note receivable    (109)      120
Repayment of long term debt (5,260)  (2,445)
Cash provided by (applied to)  financing activities (9,008)      607
  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash        44      (11)
Net change in cash   8,463   1,612
Cash, beginning of year   3,985   2,373
Cash end of year 12,448   3,985
  
Supplementary cash flow information  
Cash interest paid      547   1,024
Cash outflows (inflows) from income taxes   1,777        18

See accompanying notes



DALSA Corporation Annual Report 2008

|  46

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these financial 
statements.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of DALSA Corporation and its subsidiaries, hereinafter 
referred to as the “Company” or “Corporation”. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Cash
Cash is defined as cash. These assets are classified as assets held for trading and are recorded at fair value through the 
income statement. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of use in the 
short term. 

Marketable securities
Marketable securities are classified as assets held for trading and are recorded at fair value through the income 
statement. The gains and losses are classified as interest income or interest expense on the income statement. 
A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there 
is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
the receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganization, and default or delinquency in payment (more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the 
trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assets carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income 
statement within ‘Selling, general and administrative’ expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible , it is written 
off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against ‘Selling, general and administrative’ expenses in the income statement. 

Inventory
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook section 3031, Inventory. Raw materials and 
supplies, work-in-process and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all 
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based on the normal production capacity of the production 
facilities. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

Accounts payable
Accounts payable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 
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Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is 
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. When the expected future undiscounted cash flows exceed the carrying value 
of the asset, or group of assets, an impairment loss is recognized to reduce the carrying value of the asset or group of 
assets to its fair value.

Goodwill 
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the 
amounts allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair value. 
Goodwill is assigned as of the date of the business combination. 

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on comparison of the 
fair value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets, including goodwill. When 
the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared 
with its carrying amount to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. Any permanent impairment is written off 
against earnings in the year that such a loss becomes evident.

Intangible assets
The Company identifies and measures intangible assets acquired in business combinations and accounts for these 
assets separately from goodwill. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.

Recoverability of intangible assets with finite lives is tested whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are evaluated annually to 
determine whether the value of these assets has been impaired. 

Intangible assets are considered impaired and are written down to their net recoverable amount when their book value 
exceeds their estimated undiscounted future cash flows. Any permanent impairment is written off against earnings in the 
year that such impairment becomes evident.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less related government grants and investment tax credits. Depreciation is 
computed on a straight-line basis after assets have been put in use as follows:

Buildings   20 to 40 years
Equipment  2 to 16 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 7 years
Computer software 2 to 8 years
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Research and development costs
Research and development costs are charged to earnings in the periods in which they are incurred, except for costs 
incurred pursuant to specific contracts with third parties, which are charged to earnings in the same period as the related 
revenue is recognized. 

Development costs meeting the requirements of generally accepted accounting principles are deferred. The deferred 
costs are amortized to income over the anticipated period of benefit, when commercial use of the related products or 
technology commences.

Income taxes
The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future tax 
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and 
liabilities, and measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are 
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against any future income tax asset if it is more likely than not 
that the asset will not be realized. The Company does not provide for income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign 
subsidiaries that are not expected to be repatriated in the foreseeable future. 

Government assistance
Government assistance towards research and development expenditures is received in the form of investment tax credit 
on account of eligible expenditures. Investment tax credits are recorded when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Company will realize them. Assistance related to the acquisition of capital assets used for research and development is 
credited against the related capital asset, while other assistance is credited against related expenses as incurred. 

Long term debt
Long term debt is initially recognized at fair value. It is subsequently accounted for at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Transaction costs are expensed in the period they are incurred.  

Revenue recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized 
or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement with a customer, the product has been 
delivered or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is 
reasonably assured.  

The Company reviews all significant contracts at their inception and as each item in the arrangement is delivered to 
determine if the deliverable represents a separate unit of accounting. In the determination, the Company considers 
whether the delivered item has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis and that there is objective and reliable 
evidence of fair value of the undelivered items. Revenue is recognized at fair value on shipment or on the percentage of 
completion basis depending on the nature of the separate unit of accounting that is identified. 

In addition to these general policies, the following are specific revenue recognition policies for each major category of 
revenue.

Standard product sales
Revenue from standard product sales is recognized at the time goods are shipped to customers and the risks of 
ownership are transferred to the customer. Provisions are made at the time of sale for warranties and estimated
product returns.

Financial Statements



DALSA Corporation Annual Report 2008

49  |

Application specific contracts revenue
Revenue from long-term application specific contracts, which relate to research and development contracts, is 
recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Under this method, revenue is recognized over the duration of the 
contract as tasks are completed. Generally, the Company uses total costs incurred compared to total expected costs to 
determine the extent to which tasks are completed for purposes of revenue recognition. The difference between billings 
and revenue recognized is recorded as deferred or accrued revenue. For contracts where a portion of the payment is 
based on performance relative to established targets, provision for performance adjustments is included in revenue or 
cost estimates when amounts can reasonably be determined. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts, 
if any, are made in the period in which such losses are determined.

Foreign currency translation 
The Company’s reporting currency is Canadian Dollars. Foreign currency denominated revenues and expenses are 
translated at weighted average exchange rates throughout the year. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
liabilities are translated at rates prevailing at the balance sheet dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses on transactions 
during the year are reflected in income. 

For integrated foreign operations, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates prevailing on the balance 
sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historic rates. Revenue and expenses are translated 
at the weighted average rates throughout the year [other than depreciation and amortization which are translated at the 
same rates as the related assets]. Translation gains and losses are included in income. 

For self-sustaining foreign operations, assets and liabilities are translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Revenue and expenses, including depreciation and amortization, are translated at average rates throughout 
the year. Exchange gains and losses for self-sustaining foreign operations are included in the accumulated other 
comprehensive income. 

Hedging relationships and derivative financial instruments
The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to hedge anticipated cash flows as well as balance sheet foreign 
exchange risks. The Company does not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes and the only derivatives the 
Company utilizes for hedging are forward exchange contracts.

The Company formally documents relationships between hedging instruments and associated hedged items. This 
documentation includes: identification of the specific foreign currency asset, liability or forecasted transaction being 
hedged; the nature of the risk being hedged; the hedge objective; the method of assessing hedge effectiveness, and the 
method of accounting for the hedging relationship. Hedge effectiveness is formally assessed, both at hedge inception 
and on an ongoing basis, to determine whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in foreign currency risk of hedged items. Hedge accounting is applied only if there is reasonable 
assurance that the hedging relationship will be effective.

When derivative instruments originally designated as hedges cease to exist, have been terminated or cease to be 
effective prior to maturity, any gains or losses are recognized immediately in net income. 

The Company’s forward contracts meet the criteria for cash flow hedges which under CICA Handbook Sections 3865 
and 3855 and are measured at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses on effective hedges recorded in other 
comprehensive income and the ineffective portion in the net income of the period. Amounts accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of operations in the period in which the hedged item affects
net income.  
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Embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly 
and closely related to those of the host instrument, the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those of a 
stand-alone-derivative and the combined contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value. These embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with subsequent changes recognized in the statement of operations as an element 
of general and administrative expenses.

Stock-based compensation plans
Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the revisions to the CICA Handbook Section 3870, which require a fair 
value based method of accounting to be applied to all stock-based payments to employees or directors. These revisions 
were adopted prospectively. For all stock options issued to employees and directors on or after January 1, 2003, the 
Company employs a fair value based method of accounting and recognizes compensation cost over the vesting period 
of the options, on a straight line basis. The fair value of direct awards of stock are determined using the quoted market 
price of the Company’s stock and the fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

The deferred stock unit (“DSU”) plan of the Company is recognized as a compensation expense and as amortization of 
a deferred charge as the units vest. Vested DSUs are re-measured at each reporting period until settlement, using the 
share trading price of the Company.

Pension plans
The Company sponsors a defined contribution pension plan and a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for 
certain of its employees. Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to the multi-employer defined benefit pension 
plan as the Company does not have sufficient information to apply defined benefit plan accounting. The cost of defined 
contribution pensions is expensed as earned by employees. 

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. The treasury stock 
method is used to calculate diluted earnings per share. Under the treasury stock method, it is assumed that potential 
proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants would be used to purchase the Company’s common shares 
at the average market price during the period, thereby reducing the number of shares otherwise used to calculate diluted 
earnings per share.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the group’s financial statement in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenue and expense during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In particular, significant 
estimates include those related to revenue recognition, the valuation of inventory, the valuation of assets held for sale, the 
realization of future income taxes, the valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets, stock based compensation and 
investment tax credits.
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The Company performs its required annual impairment test of goodwill in December of each year. Testing for impairment 
is accomplished mainly by determining whether the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the book value of the net 
assets of that reporting unit as at the assessment date. Fair value of each reporting unit is approximated using both 
income and market approaches which require management to make certain judgments and estimates including but not 
limited to, future expected sales, impact of existing purchase orders, control premiums and general market conditions.  
These judgments and estimates which are subjective and uncertain may change over time which may result in an 
impairment charge to goodwill that would require a non-cash charge to the consolidated statement of operations and 
may have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

As further described in Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements, the Company, in its third quarter, committed 
to a plan to sell certain fixed assets and technology related to its Digital Cinema business unit, and has classified these 
assets as assets held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet. Concurrent with this classification, management 
estimated the fair value of these assets and recorded an impairment charge sufficient to reduce the carrying value of 
these assets to their fair values. The estimation of the fair value is subjective and was based upon all known information 
at the time the provision was made, which included information development through negotiations with interested parties.  
These discussions continue to occur, however, there can be no assurance that the ultimate realization of this asset will 
be equal to the fair value ascribed. An additional impairment charge may be required as additional information becomes 
available.

Changes in accounting policies

Accounting Changes
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Section 1506, 
Accounting Changes. This standard establishes criteria for changes in accounting policies along with the accounting 
treatment and disclosure required upon adoption of new accounting policies, estimates and corrections of errors. The 
revised standard did not impact net earnings or financial position. 

Inventory
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook Section 
3031, Inventory. The adoption of this new inventory standard requires changes for accounting of inventory including the 
requirement to allocate overhead costs based on normal production levels and changes to the definition of net realizable 
value. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact to the Company’s financial statements. 

The new inventory standard clarifies the definition of ‘cost’ to include all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. As a result, companies are 
required to systematically allocate fixed and variable production overheads that are incurred in converting materials into 
finished goods. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based on normal production capacity of the production 
facilities. In addition, the standard requires companies to assess the recoverability of inventory costs in comparison to 
net realizable value. Declines in replacement cost below carrying values for raw materials inventories do not require write 
downs if the finished goods in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. There was no 
impact of this change to the financial statements of the Company. 
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Financial Instruments and Capital Disclosure
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments: disclosure; 
Section 3863, Financial Instruments: presentation; and Section 1535, Capital disclosures. These new standards establish 
additional presentation and disclosure requirements including the significance of financial instruments to the Company’s 
position and performance, discussion regarding the nature and extent of risks surrounding the Company’s financial 
instruments, disclosures regarding the Company’s objectives, policies and process for managing capital and what the 
company regards as capital. The adoption of these standards did not impact net earnings or financial position. 

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and intangible assets, replacing CICA Handbook Section 
3062, Goodwill and other intangible assets and CICA Handbook Section 3450, Research and development costs. The 
new Section will be applicable to the Company’s financial statements for its fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2009. It 
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill subsequent to its initial 
recognition and of intangible assets by profit oriented enterprises. Standards concerning goodwill are unchanged from 
the standards included in the previous Handbook Section 3062. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this 
new Section will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:

                                                           2008 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                        $ $

Raw materials and supplies  18,671 8,959
Work-in-process  15,475 13,567
Finished goods    9,275        9,018 
    43,421     31,544

3. Research and Development

Research and development costs are presented net of related government 
funding and investment tax credits as follows:
                     
    2008 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands       $ $

Total research and development expenditures  39,273 37,487
Government funding                (845) (558)
Investment tax credits              (6,013)                (5,479)
Net research and development expenditures  32,415 31,450
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The Company is eligible for Federal investment tax credits at a rate of 20% of qualifying scientific research and 
experimental development expenditures conducted in Canada, in addition to investment tax credits or tax deductions 
available from provincial jurisdictions. The Company is also eligible for certain tax credits for research carried out by its 
subsidiaries in the United States.  

The development costs related to the development of the digital cinema project were fully amortized in 2008 as part of 
the Company’s decision to close its Digital Cinema Business.

4. Acquisitions

[a] Rad-icon Imaging Corp.

On April 17, 2008, the Company acquired the remaining 23.3% of voting preferred shares in Rad-icon Imaging Corp. for 
cash consideration of $1,034,000 increasing its ownership to 100%. The Company has included the results of operations 
at the new ownership percentage from April 17, 2008. For consolidation purposes Rad-icon is treated as a self-sustaining 
operation and has been included in the Digital Imaging business segment. 

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired:

Canadian dollars in thousands                                                                                 $

Assets acquired:
Cash                                                                                                                        38
Other Current Assets                                                                                             199
Property and equipment                                                                                         10
Intangible assets consisting of non-patented technology                                   887
Goodwill                                                                                                                 321
                                                                                                                      1,455
Current liabilities                                                                                                     (88)
Future tax liability                                                                                                  (333)
                                                                                                                      1,034

[b] Intangible Assets
   2008  2007
Canadian dollars in thousands    $ $ 

Patented and non-patented technology and trademarks
net of accumulated amortization of $7,910 [2007 - $6,022] 9,166 9,514
Customer lists and other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $2,793 [2007 – $1,812] 4,242 5,224
Net book value 13,408 14,738

The cost of patented and non-patented technology and trademarks is amortized over ten years.  Customer lists and other 
intangibles are amortized over periods of two to ten years.

Amortization on intangibles in 2008 was $2,165,000 [2007 - $1,998,000].
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5. Property and Equipment
                                                                             Accumulated              Net Book
                                                                   Cost            Depreciation        Value
2008 (Canadian dollars in thousands)                                           $                                       $                          $

Buildings                                15,033                                5,834        9,199
Computer software                                      10,241                                8,808        1,433
Equipment                                                                                98,312                               62,671      35,641
Furniture and fixtures                                     935                                   618           317
Property and equipment in progress                                  5,219                                       -        5,219
                                129,740                              77,931      51,809
Land                                  2,140                                       -        2,140   
                                  131,880                              77,931      53,949

                                                                                                   
                                                                                            Accumulated Net Book
        Cost            Depreciation        Value
2007 (Canadian dollars in thousands)                                           $                                      $                          $

Buildings                                14,572                                 5,136        9,436
Computer software                                  9,777                                7,779                       1,998
Equipment                              110,818                             59,946       50,872
Furniture and fixtures                                  1,144                                   777            367
Property and equipment in progress                                  1 ,554                                        -         1,554
                                137,865                               73,638       64,227
Land                                  2,072                                        -         2,072
                                139,937                               73,638      66,299

Property and equipment in progress includes equipment deposits, building construction in progress and equipment and 
machinery assets not available for use.  Included in this amount as of December 31, 2008 is $4,926,000 representing 
equipment purchased under non-cancelable purchase commitments.

6. Other Assets

During 2006, the land and building owned by the Company in Colorado Springs, Colorado was sold to an independent 
party. As consideration, the purchaser has issued to the Company a promissory note payable for 90% of the purchase 
price and paid the balance in cash. The promissory note receivable of US$612,000 issued to the Company carries an 
interest rate of 7% and is repayable monthly beginning May 12, 2006 in monthly installments of US$4,750, with a final 
payment of US$489,865 due May 11, 2013. As at December 31, 2008 the balance of the promissory note receivable was 
US$567,000 [2007 -US$587,000]. 
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7. Income Taxes

The provision for income tax expense differs from the expense that would be obtained by applying Canadian statutory 
rates as a result of the following:

                     
           2008   2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                  $         $        

Basic rate applied to income before income taxes and non-controlling interest    10,594  4,704
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:  
   Manufacturing and processing tax credit         (285)          - 
   Provincial tax rate differential         (825)   (438)
   Expenses not deductible for tax purposes             55       53
   Foreign tax differential               9   (175)
   Stock based compensation             89   (204) 
   Non-taxable portion of land sale               -                     (1,363)
   Ontario tax harmonization         (172)          -
   Difference between tax and accounting treatment of foreign exchange gains and losses       72                 1,460
   Other           152   (287)
Provision for income taxes       9,689  3,750

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
             2008    2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                    $         $        

Current tax expense       8,172                  4,150
Tax depreciation in excess of accounting depreciation                   (588)                   (360)
Non-deductible accounting reserves                                       (912)    (360)
Utilization of tax loss carryforwards        1,358                     429
Deferred development cost               -                         -
Corporate financing fee             10                       11
Ontario tax harmonization                    (172)          -
Future income tax recovery resulting from income tax rate changes – net             -    (252)  
Research and development expenses        1,821     132
Provision for income taxes       9,689                 3,750

Future income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. 
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Significant components of the Company’s future tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are:

                 2008      2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                    $           $        

Other comprehensive income           4,175                  (2,126)
Tax depreciation in excess of accounting depreciation                   (7,399)  (7,471)
Non-deductible accounting reserves                                            1,403                    2,202
Deferred development costs                                                      -                  (2,316)
Corporate financing fees                  9                         19
Tax loss carryforwards                                                  914                     9,950
Investment tax credits                                           (2,464)  (1,946)
Research and development expenses                                            1,140                       109
                      (2,222)  (1,579)

The allocation is as follows:          
              2008      2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                    $            $        

Current future tax asset                      2,189                    4,692
Current future tax liability                                (1,162)  (1,755)
Non-current future tax asset                                                       4,932                    4,657
Non-current future tax liability                                (8,181)  (9,173)
                      (2,222)  (1,579)

During the period, as described in Note 13, the Company recorded an impairment charge related to its Digital Cinema 
initiative. In connection with this impairment charge, the Company also increased the valuation allowance associated with 
certain tax loss carry forwards of the Digital Cinema initiative that had previously been recognized as future tax assets in 
the financial statements. As a consequence of the Company’s decision to discontinue the operations of Digital Cinema, 
the Company concluded that it was no longer more likely than not that it would be able to utilize these tax losses. 
Accordingly, the Company has the following tax losses available to it in each of the jurisdictions noted which expire as 
follows:

Canadian dollars in thousands                       Expiry
Jurisdiction  2014   2024 and thereafter                     Total
Canada 4,348                       14,247   18,595
United States          -                       27,780   27,780
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8. Bank Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt

           2008  2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                    $        $        

Committed, non-revolving credit facility currently advanced at
fixed rates not exceeding 90 days with a weighted average rate 
of 3.23%, quarterly installments of $815, maturing 
September 30, 2010 and extendible for subsequent 
one year periods at the Bank’s discretion                 11,385              16,645
Less: Current portion                  3,260                4,074
                   8,125              12,571

The Company has established several borrowing facilities with its banks. These facilities include: a committed, revolving 
credit facility (Facility A) of $20,000,000 available to fund operations, including general working capital, investments 
and capital expenditures; a demand, revolving credit facility (Facility B) of $20,000,000 available to fund operations; 
a demand, revolving facility (Facility C) of $10,000,000 available to finance capital expenditures; a committed, non-
revolving facility (Facility D) available to re-finance debt related to the acquisition of Coreco.    

Amounts drawn on Facility B are limited to the lesser of $20,000,000 or $30,000,000 less any drawings on Facility D.  
No drawings on Facility C will be available until Facility D is retired. The Company also has treasury risk management 
facilities of $15,000,000 to facilitate hedging of interest and currency related risks arising in the normal course of 
operations. Outstanding borrowings under Facility A were $7,900,000 at December 31, 2008 ($8,900,000 at December 
31, 2007) and outstanding borrowings under Facility D were $3,485,000 ($7,745,000 at December 31, 2007). There were 
no amounts outstanding on Facilities B or C at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The rate of interest on all credit facilities varies from prime plus 0.375% to prime plus 1.625%. The applicable rate is 
determined based on the Company’s ratio of loan advances to its earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization. The credit facilities are subject to certain financial covenants. The Company has provided a general security 
agreement and a floating charge on all assets (with the exception of a parcel of land held for future use) and a general 
endorsement in favour of the lender of all risk insurance on secured assets as collateral for its credit facilities.

Interest expense on bank loans was $379,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008 [2007 - $463,000]. Interest on long-
term debt was $186,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008 [2007 - $462,000].

The future minimum annual principal repayments of long-term debt are as follows:

Canadian dollars in thousands    $        

2009                                                                       3,260
2010 and thereafter                                             8,125
                                                                      11,385
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9. Pension Obligations

The Company sponsors defined contribution pension plans for most of its employees. The cost of the defined 
contribution pension plan is expensed as earned by employees.

The Company also sponsors a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for its employees in the Netherlands.  
Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to the multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. This plan has 91 
members. The plan administrator recently indicated that its assets are funded to 96% of its legal requirement.

                     
    2008 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands         $ $

Defined contribution plans  1,294 1,117
Multi-employer plan  1,308 1,241
    2,602 2,358

10. Gain On Sale Of Land  
 
In 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm’s length party to sell approximately 37.5 acres of land 
located in Waterloo, Ontario. The Company has retained 18.7 acres for future use.

Proceeds from the sale of land were $11,600,000. The cost of the land sold, development costs and selling costs were 
$4,057,000. The Company realized gain of approximately $7,543,000. The gain on sale of land is included in the Digital 
Imaging business segment results as presented in Note 21.

11. Warranty

    2008 2007
Canadian dollars in thousands         $ $

Balance, beginning of year  540 587
Expense  340 578
Settlements  (227)          (592)
Foreign exchange and other   62              (33)
Balance, end of year  715 540
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12. Restructuring Charge

Digital Imaging business segment
On September 6, 2007, the Company announced plans to divest and discontinue operations in Colorado Springs.  As a 
part of this plan, the assets related to the portion of the x-ray imaging business carried out at that location were identified 
for sale. In addition, a decision was made to transfer production and research and development activities related to 
industrial products to other facilities, where those activities can be carried out more efficiently and at a lower cost. A 
majority of the assets held for sale as at December 31, 2007 consist of accounts receivable and inventory and are 
disclosed as current assets in the balance sheet. 

During the third and fourth quarters of 2007, the Company incurred charges related to the initiative described above that 
included the termination of employees and related costs, the write down of inventory and fixed assets, and the costs 
of transferring research and development and production activities to other facilities owned by the Company. The total 
cost of this initiative in 2007 was $1,076,000, all of which relates to the Digital Imaging business segment and is included 
in restructuring costs. Throughout 2008, an additional $1,234,000 in restructuring expenses was incurred, relating to 
employee severance and retention expenses and certain facility related costs. These costs have been recognized 
throughout 2008 as the criteria for their recognition had been met.

In April 2008, certain assets that had been classified as held for sale as at December 31, 2007 related to the Company’s 
x-ray business were sold. Total proceeds on the sale of the assets equaled net book value and the Company did not 
record a significant gain or a loss in the statement of operations. As a condition of the sale of the assets, the Company is 
entitled to a royalty of 10% on sales of any products related to the transferred assets for a period of 5 years. For the year 
ended December 31, 2008, royalties of $70,000 were recognized.

Apart from the initiative related to its x-ray imaging business, the Digital Imaging business segment reduced its staffing 
levels in other facilities. The related severance and termination benefits of $276,000 are included in restructuring costs 
in 2007. 

Semiconductor business segment
During the third quarter of 2007, the Semiconductor business segment reduced its staffing levels in all parts of the 
Semiconductor business unit and incurred employee severance and termination benefit costs of $393,000. The costs 
associated with these terminations have been included in restructuring costs for the year ended December 31, 2007.

In addition, during the third quarter of 2007, the Company determined that the carrying value of certain manufacturing 
equipment owned by the Semiconductor business unit that was not in use exceeded its fair market value and recorded 
an impairment loss of $785,000. The fair value of capital assets was based on the review of replacement cost for 
those assets. This impairment loss has also been included in the Company’s restructuring costs for the period ended 
December 31, 2007.

Digital Cinema business segment
During the third quarter of 2007, Digital Cinema business segment reduced its staffing level and incurred $185,000 of 
termination benefits.
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To summarize, the costs of restructuring across all business segments for activities that were initiated in 2007 (see Note 
13 for 2008 initiatives) were incurred as follows:

Canadian dollars in thousands                        Balance as at                    Accrued in                   Costs paid or         Balance as at 
                                                                           January 1                        the year            otherwise settled         December 31

2007                 $0                          $2,715                              $2,109        $606
2008                                                                                $606                          $1,231                              $1,577        $260

Costs paid or otherwise settled include $1,405,000 in 2007 in non-cash charges for disposal of obsolete inventory and 
impairment of certain fixed assets.

13. Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale

During the third quarter of 2008, the Company committed to a plan to eliminate the ongoing losses of its Digital Cinema 
business unit. Accordingly, the results of operations and financial position of the Digital Cinema business unit have been 
segregated and presented separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements.  

The results of the discontinued operations are as follows:

                             2008       2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                        $             $        

Revenue        1,745      2,221
Loss from operating activities        6,981     7,490
Write-down to reduce assets to net realizable value  
Net current assets            865                    - 
Fixed assets                             11,879              -
Tax valuation allowance                                      8,226              -
Deferred development costs       7,008              -
Intangibles             363              -
Other provisions related to discontinued operations       5,185              -
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax                           40,507     7,490

The loss from discontinued operations includes a non-cash impairment charge of $21,707,000 related to certain 
inventory and deferred development costs of the business unit and an increase in the impairment reserve of $6,939,000.  

In connection with this initiative, the Company reduced its workforce and closed its Woodland Hills facility. Accordingly, 
severance costs and lease termination costs totalling $2,605,000 (net of tax of $111,000) were incurred and included 
in the loss from discontinued operations. Lease termination costs include $1,363,000 in payment obligations to the 
former General Manager of the DALSA Digital Cinema Center for the lease of the facilities in Woodland Hills, California to 
September 30, 2011.  

Financial Statements



DALSA Corporation Annual Report 2008

61  |

Financial Statements

A summary of charges related to discontinued operations is presented below:

Canadian dollars in thousands                    Balance as at   Accrued in       Costs paid or        Balance as at 
                                                                      January 1                             the year           otherwise settled         December 31

2008                                                                                $0                               $5,185                            $1,507     $3,678

The $5,185,000 in expenses accrued includes $1,241,000 in severance expenses, $1,363,000 in lease obligations, 
$1,790,000 in purchase obligations, and $292,000 owed to the minority shareholder of one of the Company’s Digital 
Cinema subsidiaries.

14. Commitments 

The Company has entered into operating leases for equipment, vehicles and premises. Minimum total annual payments 
under these leases for years ending after December 31, 2008 and in total are as follows:

           
Canadian dollars in thousands                                                                                                    

2009    3,346
2010    2,615
2011    2,308
2012    1,953
2013        697
Thereafter         200
                                                                                                $11,119

Rental expense for equipment, vehicles and premises was $3,623,000 in fiscal 2008 [2007 - $3,891,000]. As at 
December 31, 2008, The Company has committed to purchase certain fixed assets totaling $7,752,000 of which 
$4,926,000 represent obligations under non-cancellable purchase commitments which have been accrued in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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15. Shareholders’ Equity

Authorized

Unlimited common shares
Unlimited preferred shares, issuable in a series.

Preferred shares are non-voting, and may be issued in series with rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions thereon 
fixed by the Board of Directors of the Company at the time of issuance.

   Common shares
   Number Amount in 
    Thousands
    ($)

Balance, December 31, 2006 18,876,651 116,947
Issued under employee stock option plan 146,424 1,003
Issued under employee stock purchase plan 14,664 135
Issued to directors as consideration for directors’ fees 8,984 120
Normal Course Issuer Bid                                                                                                              (384,722)                          (2,385)
Balance, December 31, 2007 18,662,001 115,820
Issued under employee stock option plan 183,425 1,853
Issued under employee stock purchase plan 31,550 237
Issued to directors as consideration for directors’ fees 19,215 208
Normal Course Issuer Bid                                                                                                              (459,311)                          (2,848)
Balance, December 31, 2008                                                                                                    18,436,880             115,270

On August 23, 2007, the Company entered into a Normal Course Issuer Bid to repurchase, for cancellation, up to 
951,334 Common Shares of the Company, representing approximately 5% of the issued and outstanding shares. As 
of December 31, 2007, 384,722 shares were purchased for $3,306,000 and have been cancelled. This Normal Course 
Issuer Bid ended August 22, 2008. On September 11, 2008, the Company entered into a new Normal Course Issuer Bid 
to repurchase, for cancellation, up to 927,811 common shares of the Company representing approximately 5% of the 
issued and outstanding shares. As of December 31, 2008, 459,311 shares were purchased for $4,078,000 and have 
been cancelled. The excess of cost over the average of the stated value of the shares outstanding has been charged to 
retained earnings.
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16. Earnings Per Share

Authorized

Earnings per share is calculated as follows:

               2008      2007
Canadian dollars in thousands, except per share amounts                          $                           $        

Earnings from continuing operations        21,930     9,242
Loss from discontinued operations       (40,507)   (7,490)

Earnings for basic and diluted earnings per share                     (18,577)    1,752

Weighted average common shares – basic       18,685   18,987
Incremental shares from assumed conversion of employee stock options           39         43
Adjusted weighted average common shares – diluted       18,724   19,030

Earnings per share:  
Basic and diluted – from continuing operations           1.17    0.49
Basic and diluted – from discontinued operations                       (2.17)                  (0.40)
Basic and diluted           (1.00)                  (0.09)

17. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock option plan
During 1996, the Company instituted an Employee Stock Option Plan [“Option Plan”]. At that time, the Company 
reserved 1,000,000 shares for issuance, pursuant to options granted under the Option Plan. On March 23, 2001, the 
shareholders of the Company approved an increase in the number of options available by 444,183 share options, 
making available for issue a total of 1,444,183 share options. In 2006, shareholders approved an increase in the number 
of issuable shares by 400,000 to 1,844,183 of which 1,064,213 have been exercised to date. Options may be granted 
at the discretion of the Board of Directors at an option price not less than the market value of the Company’s common 
shares on the date of grant. The options vest over a period of three to five years and expire no later than the tenth 
anniversary of the date of grant. The purchase price of common shares under options outstanding at December 31, 
2008, ranges from $7.79 to $19.54.  
     
                                                                                                                                     Number    Weighted average
                                                                                                                             of shares            exercise price
Employee stock option plan                                                                                                                                   ($)

Balance, December 31, 2006                                                                                      650,299                          13.07 
Granted                                                                                                                                115,000                          10.57
Exercised                                                                                                                            (146,424)                           6.70
Cancelled                                                                                                                              (39,700)                        16.64
Balance, December 31, 2007                                                                                      579,175                         13.89
Granted                                                                                                                               163,500                             9.30
Exercised                                                                                                                            (183,425)                         10.10
Cancelled                                                                                                                            (40,250)                          13.66
Balance, December 31, 2008                                                                                      519,000                        13.79
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The following table summarizes information regarding stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008:

                                            Weighted             Weighted                                Weighted 
     Average                            average remaining               average                          average
     exercise                 Number          contractual              exercise                      Number  exercise
           price           outstanding         life      price                 exercisable        price
              ($)    (years)         ($)                             ($)

    
    7.00-7.99  5,000 5.79 7.79 0                                     7.79
    8.00-9.99  143,000 5.08 9.30 0                                     9.30
10.00-10.99   100,000 4.84 10.41 25,000                                   10.41
11.00-13.00  10,000 4.57 12.52 2,500                                   12.52
16.00-16.99  122,500 2.58 16.01 89,250                                   16.01
17.00-17.99  1,500 1.67 17.34 1,500                                   17.34
18.00-18.99                      3 7,500 2.38 18.43 28,125                                   18.43
19.00-19.99  99,500 1.26 19.54 111,750                                   19.54
                   519,000 2.05 13.79 258,125                                 16.10

Stock based compensation expense
The fair value of employee stock options granted to employees and directors on or after January 1, 2003 is recognized 
as a compensation cost. During 2008, the Company granted 163,500 options [2007 – 115,000]. The fair value of options 
issued in the year was estimated at the date of grant, using a Black-Scholes Options Pricing Model with the following 
assumptions: risk free interest rate of 3.26%; dividend yields of 0.02%; a volatility of 0.70; and weighted average expected 
life of the options of 4.5 years. The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year was $3.57.

The Company recognized $412,000 [2007 - $566,000] of amortization of stock based compensation related to options 
that have been granted which has been recorded in Selling, General and Administrative expenses.

The Company recognized $81,000 [2007 – nil] as a compensation cost in 2008 associated with the Company’s deferred 
share unit plan and is included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses.

Financial Statements



DALSA Corporation Annual Report 2008

65  |

Financial Statements

Stock purchase plan
The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan [“Purchase Plan”] pursuant to which employees and directors of 
the Company may be offered the opportunity to apply to the Company for a loan to purchase common shares of the 
Company. Under the Purchase Plan, the Company may issue the shares to employees who are not directors or principal 
shareholders, at a discount of up to 10% of the market value. Directors and principal shareholders may purchase shares 
at fair market value under the Purchase Plan. The Company has reserved 1,000,000 shares for issuance pursuant to 
the Purchase Plan. Loans bear interest at rates determined by the Company, are repayable monthly over a period no 
longer than ten years, are limited to one times annual salary or three times annual directors fees and are secured by the 
purchased shares. In practice, loans extended under the Purchase Plan do not exceed one year and are interest free for 
all participants.  

To December 31, 2008, 341,780 [2007 - 291,015], shares have been issued under the Purchase Plan. Loans outstanding 
under the Purchase Plan at December 31, 2008, total $134,000 [2007 - $82,000] and are included in other current assets 
on the balance sheet.  

Deferred Stock Unit Plan
The Company’s deferred stock unit (“DSU”) plan is for the benefit of the Company’s directors. Under this plan, each 
director received a set number of DSUs. One-quarter of the grant vested on date of grant. The remaining three-quarters 
vests equally at the beginning of the year over the remaining three years so long as the director remains on the board.  
The value of the DSU is based on the weighted average trading price of the Company’s common shares over the last 5 
trading days immediately preceding the valuation date. DSUs will entitle the holders thereof to dividends paid from time 
to time on the Company’s common shares, which will be paid in the form of additional units. Subject to certain limitations, 
the DSUs will be redeemed by the Company when the director ceases to serve as a director of the Company. For 
purposes of redeeming the units, the value of a DSU equals the fair value of the Company’s common shares on the date 
of redemption. As at December 31, 2008, the total number of DSUs outstanding under this plan was 42,000. The total 
expense associated with this plan during 2008 was $81,000.
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18. Financial Instruments

Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, financial instruments are classified into one of the following 
categories: held for trading, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale, loans and receivables and other financial 
liabilities. The Company has also designated some of its derivatives as effective hedges. The following table summarizes 
information regarding the carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments:

              December 31, 2008  December 31, 2007
In thousands             $                 $

Held for trading (1)   12,448           9,743
Available for sale (2)           -                   48
Loans and receivables (3)  29,829        25,507
Other financial liabilities (4)  50,912        35,302

(1)  Cash and marketable securities
(2)  Represents investment in a public company that was written off during the second quarter of 2008. 
(3)  Accounts receivable and loans receivable
(4)  Accounts payable and long term debt

Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, other assets, as well as accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are short term financial instruments whose fair values approximate their respective carrying amounts 
due to their short maturities. The fair value of marketable securities is based on quoted market prices for active markets. 
The fair value of currency forward contracts have been estimated using observable market inputs including but not limited 
to quoted currency spot rates, the coupon rate yield curve, quoted forward currency exchange rates, and reflect the 
Company’s assessment of counterparty credit risk. The fair value of the currency forward contracts has been presented 
as foreign exchange assets or liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company limits counterparties to forward 
currency contracts to Canadian Schedule A Chartered Banks.

The fair value of long term debt is equivalent to its carrying value since it is floating rate debt and its interest rate is 
comparable to the market rate available to the Company.

Based on current interest rates for loans with similar terms to similar customers, the fair value of the long term note 
receivable is estimated to be equal to $637,000.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company’s exposure to risk in market interest rates relates to its bank credit facilities and long term debt which 
bear interest at floating rates and in its marketable securities which bear interest. As the Company’s debt is based upon 
the prime rate of interest, changes in the prime rate of interest impact the total interest expense of the Company. The 
Company manages this risk through review, on a regular basis, of alternative sources of funding and assesses if its 
interest bearing debt reflects current market rates. The Company does not manage this risk through the use of derivative 
financial instruments.
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The recognized interest expense for the Company’s long term debt for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $379,000. 
It is estimated that net income will fluctuate $113,000 for every 1% change in the prevailing rates of interest assuming all 
the other variables will be held constant.

Marketable securities are invested in separate investments with fixed rates of interest and varying maturities exposing 
the Company to interest rate risk on these financial instruments. All marketable securities have remaining maturities of 
less than one year. The Company’s objective with regard to these investments is to minimize liquidity and credit risk while 
maximizing the interest income earned. The Company does not use financial instruments to mitigate this risk. 

The recognized interest income for the Company’s marketable securities for the year ended December 31, 2008 
$133,000. It is estimated that net income will fluctuate $57,000 for every 1% change in the prevailing rates of interest 
assuming all the other variables will be held constant. 

Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk in its cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, 
other receivables and to the counterparty credit risk of its derivative financial instruments if counterparties do not meet 
their obligations. As the Company does not utilize credit derivatives or similar instruments, the maximum exposure 
to credit risk is the full carrying value of the financial instrument or face value of open derivative financial instruments. 
Recent events in the global financial markets continue to have an impact on the global economic environment. These 
events are not directly related to the Company or the industry in which it operates, however, there may be an impact on 
the Company over the course of time. It is possible that reduced economic activity may adversely affect the Company’s 
operating results and financial condition through, among other matters, increased credit risk surrounding the Company’s 
financial instruments.

The Company minimizes the credit risk of cash by depositing only with reputable financial institutions independently rated 
parties represented by Schedule A Canadian Banks. The Company minimizes the credit risk of marketable securities 
by investing in securities that meet minimum requirement credit rating as stipulated by the Company’s investment 
policy which requires the Company to invest only in short term (less than 90 days), low risk, easily convertible to cash 
investments such as government treasury bills. The Company does not invest in high risk speculative investments. This 
limits its exposure to any one financial institution, commercial issuer or investment type.

Credit risk on accounts receivable and other receivables is minimized by performing credit reviews, on-going credit 
evaluation and account monitoring procedures. The Company assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into 
account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual credit limits are set based on internal or 
external credit ratings. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. All of the Company’s receivables have been 
reviewed for indicators of impairment. Furthermore, the Company regularly contacts customers who have outstanding 
past due balances. The carrying value of accounts receivable is reduced to the amount expected to be collected through 
the use of an allowance when the Company, after a consideration of all of the facts considers that it will not collect the full 
amount of the account receivable balance. When a receivable balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Of the Company’s receivables $2,975,000 are past due. The definition of items that are past due is determined by 
reference to terms agreed with individual customers During the year, the provision for doubtful accounts increased by 
$250,000, mainly due to the depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar and Euro.
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The following is the aging schedule, based on invoice date, for accounts receivable as of December 31, 2008:

Canadian dollars in thousands           

0 to 30 days               16,046
30 to 60 days                  8,395
60 to 90 days                 3.027
Greater than 90 days                 2,975
Subtotal                30.443
Other amounts receivable                                      281
Allowance for doubtful accounts               (1,247)
Sales return allowance                     (473)
Total accounts receivable              29,004

As of December 31, 2008, there was one customer who individually comprised greater than 10% of the consolidated 
accounts receivable balance. This customer accounted for 12% of all accounts receivable. No one customer accounted 
for more than 10% of revenue for the year.

For currency forward contracts, the Company limits counterparties to these contracts to Canadian Schedule A Chartered 
Banks and regularly reviews the risk if counterparty credit risk of these financial institutions based upon information 
disclosed publicly by the counterparty.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company operates in Canada, the United States of America, Europe and Asia. The Company’s financial results are 
reported in its functional currency, Canadian dollars. The Company generates the majority of its revenues in US dollars, 
which exceeds the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services denominated in US dollars. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from fluctuations and degree of volatility in foreign exchange rates relative to the Canadian dollar on 
amounts that are not covered by the natural hedge described above. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is 
primarily related to fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to that of the United States dollar, the European 
Euro and to a lesser degree Japanese Yen.

The objective of the Company’s foreign exchange risk management activities is to minimize transaction exposure and 
the degree of volatility of the Company’s earnings, arising from changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company 
manages its foreign currency risk by denominating sales transactions in US dollars to the maximum extent possible and 
through the use of foreign exchange contracts to sell US dollars. The Company does not actively use foreign exchange 
contracts to manage its risk related to exchange rate fluctuations between the European Euro and the Japanese Yen.  
The Company estimates its expected future US dollar denominated sales transactions for a period covering the next 
15 to 18 months and enters into forward foreign currency contracts that cover 40% to 50% of its anticipated US dollar 
denominated sales. At the inception of the forward currency contract and throughout its life, the Company assesses the 
effectiveness of the forward currency contract in mitigating the risk of fluctuations in exchange rate between the US dollar 
and the Canadian dollar. Forward currency contracts that are believed to be effective, and continue to be throughout their 
life, are designated as hedges.
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At December 31, 2008, the Company has outstanding forward contracts with a notional value of US$87,000,000 [2007 
- US$96,100,000] maturing on or before May 31, 2010 at an average exchange rate of $1.0383 [2007 - $1.0702]. As at 
December 31, 2008, the fair value of these forward contracts was an unrealized loss of approximately $15,256,000. As at 
December 31, 2007 the fair value of outstanding forward contracts at that date was an unrealized gain of approximately 
$7,548,000. The current portion of the financial liability of $14,262,000 (2007 – asset of $7,121,000) is disclosed as a 
foreign exchange liability on the consolidated balance sheet and the long term portion of $1,040,000 is disclosed as a 
long term foreign exchange liability (2007 – the long term asset of $427,000 was included in long term other assets). 

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the change in fair market value of forward contracts was an unrealized loss of 
$10,702,000 (2007 – unrealized gain of $7,225,000) net of income taxes of $6,868,000 (2007 – 3,559,000) before the 
reclassification of $2,906,000 gain on cash flow hedges (2007 – gain of $1,415,000) to revenue. There was no ineffective 
portion recognized in the income statement during the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – nil).

If the Canadian dollar depreciated by 1 cent against US dollar at December 31, 2008, with all other variables held 
constant, the impact of the foreign currency change on the US denominated financial instruments would lead to 
additional after tax net income of $79,000. If the Canadian dollar depreciated by 1 cent against the Euro at December 
31, 2008, with all other variables held constant, the impact of the foreign currency change on the Euro denominated 
financial instruments would lead to additional after tax net income of $9,000. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the 
Company reported a foreign exchange gain of $4,822,000 and for the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company 
recorded a foreign exchange loss of $1,933,000.  

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises through an excess of financial obligations over available financial assets at any point in time. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available resources in order to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity reserve 
(comprises undrawn borrowing facility, cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, 
management monitors balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external benchmarks. The Company currently 
settles its financial obligations out of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities. In order to meet its financial 
liabilities, the Company relies on collecting its accounts receivable in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash 
and cash equivalents and marketable securities in excess of anticipated needs.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2008:

Canadian dollars in thousands           

0 to 3 months              26,277
3 months to 1 year              15,165
1 year to 5 years                9,470
Total              50,912

It is the Company’s intention to meet these obligations through the collection of accounts receivable and the receipt 
of future progress payments on amounts not yet invoiced, as well as from current cash. In addition, the Company has 
available lines of credit and term loans of $42.1 million at December 31, 2008.

Financial Statements
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19. Capital Management

In the management of capital, the Company includes debt and shareholders equity, but excludes accumulated other 
comprehensive income. The Company manages its capital to ensure that financial flexibility is present to increase 
shareholder value through organic growth and selective acquisitions as well as allow the Company to respond to 
changes in economic and/or marketplace conditions. Furthermore, the Company manages its capital to ensure that it 
can continue with its dividend policy. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may issue new 
shares, purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to a normal course issuer bid, raise debt or refinance existing debt with 
different characteristics. Although there are no externally imposed capital requirements, the Company is subject to certain 
covenants on its credit facilities which include a ratio to maintain shareholders equity; working capital and earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization at a certain level. The Company is in compliance with those covenants. 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period.

Total capital is calculated as follows

In thousands             

Debt                 11,385 
   Shareholders’ equity            154,166
   Less:  Accumulated other comprehensive loss              10,315
Net shareholders’ equity             164,481
Total capital             175,866

The Company uses return on net assets employed and return on equity as measure of the effectiveness of the use of its capital.  
The Company defines return on net assets employed as its annualized earnings divided by the net sum of accounts receivable, 
accrued revenue, inventory, prepaid expenses, property and equipment, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and deferred 
revenue. The Company defines return on equity as annual net income divided by total shareholders’ equity.

20. Comprehensive income

The components of other comprehensive income are shown in the following table:

Canadian dollars in thousands               2008     2007

Net income           (18,577)    1,752
Other Comprehensive income:  
Fair market value adjustment on investment               (42)            -
Reclassification of fair market value adjustment on investment to earnings             42            -
Currency translation gain  (loss) on self sustaining subsidiaries            618      (251)
Gain (loss) on cashflow hedges (net of income taxes)       (10,702)    7,225
Reclassification of losses (gains) on cashflow hedges (net of income taxes) to earnings                     (2,906)   (1,415)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income        (12,990)    5,559
Total comprehensive (loss) income        (31,567)    7,311
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                                                                                                                              December 31, 2008   December 31, 2007 

Accumulated currency translation loss on self sustaining subsidiaries (1,022) (1,640)
Accumulated unrealized net (loss) gain on cashflow hedges (net of income taxes) (9,293) 4,315 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income  (10,315) 2,675 

21. Segmented Information

The Company operates in two reportable segments: Digital Imaging Products and Solutions [“Digital Imaging”] and 
Semiconductor Products and Services [“Semiconductor Business”]. Prior to the discontinuance of Digital Cinema, the 
Company considered is a reportable segment. Accordingly, segment information has been retroactively restated to reflect 
the Company’s current segment structure.

The Company’s reportable segments involve different products, different processes and different marketing strategies 
even though the technology is the integrating factor. The Digital Imaging Products and Solutions segment designs, 
develops and manufactures imaging products and solutions for a wide customer base. The Semiconductor Products 
and Services segment manufactures semiconductor wafers and components for the electronics industry. The Company 
accounts for inter-segment sales at current market rates.
                                                                                                                                 2008
                                                                                             Digital                  Semiconductor                   
For the year ended December 31                                       Imaging                             Business                 Consolidated 
(Canadian dollars in thousands)                                                     $                                            $                                        $

Total segment revenue  118,822                                   93,745     212,567
Inter-segment sales  25                                     6,211         6,236
Sales to discontinued operations  371                                             -            371
Total revenue  118,426                                   87,534     205,960

Interest (income) expense – net  (80)                                          22            (58)

Income tax expense  6,542                                     3,147         9,689
Net income from continuing operations
 Before non-controlling interest  13,666             8,270       21,936
 Non-controlling interest  6                                             -                6
 After non-controlling interest  13,660             8,270       21,930

Identifiable assets excluding goodwill  89,846                                   92,366     182,212
Goodwill  51,629                                             -        51,629
Discontinued operations  -         -         3,497
Total identifiable assets  141,475                                   92,366     237,338

Property and equipment acquired during the period  2,093                                     7,341         9,434

Depreciation of property and equipment   2,469                                     8,554       11,023

Restructuring costs  1,234                                             -         1,234

Amortization of intangible assets  1,482                                        683         2,165

Financial Statements
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                                                                                               Digital                  Semiconductor                   
For the year ended December 31                                      Imaging                            Business                 Consolidated
(Canadian dollars in thousands)                                                    $                                           $                                         $

Total segment revenue  100,709         80,327    181,036
Inter-segment sales  539           2,665        3,204
Sales to discontinued operations  9       -               9
Total revenue  100,161         77,662    177,823

Interest (income) expense – net  (163)              116           (47) 

Income tax expense  4,803                                 (1,053)        3,750

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
 Before non-controlling interest  11,738                                  (2,466)        9,272
 Non-controlling interest  30                                            -             30
 After non-controlling interest  11,708                                  (2,466)        9,242

Identifiable assets excluding goodwill  78,682                                  79,210    157,892
Goodwill  51,308                                            -      51,308
Discontinued operations   -                                            -       31,174
Total identifiable assets  129,990                                  79,210     240,374

Property and equipment acquired during the period  3,723                                    6,247        9,970
Depreciation of property and equipment   2,797                                    8,165      10,962

Restructuring costs  1,352                                    1,178        2,530

Gain on sale of land  7,543                                           -        7,543

Amortization of intangible assets  1,314                                       684        1,998

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer and are distributed as follows:

            2008  2007
Canadian dollars in thousands              $            $        

Canada     5,032  6,286
USA    90,034  80,379
Europe, Middle East   55,215  49,944
Asia Pacific   55,679  41,214
Total revenue 205,960  177,823

2007
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Identifiable assets are attributable to the region in which the asset is located. The geographic distribution 
of identifiable assets is detailed below.

        2008  2007
Canadian dollars in thousands              $                         $        

Canada 200,739  197,164
USA    17,363  29,879
Europe   18,385  13,038
Asia Pacific        851  293
Total identifiable assets 237,338  240,374

22. Changes In Operating Assets And Liabilities

         
                                                                                  2008                                2007
Canadian dollars in thousands                                       $                                        $     

Accounts receivable   (3,796)                920
Accrued revenue    (3,726)             1,076
Income tax credits recoverable  (1,571)            (3,453)
Inventory                  (10,022)             1,486
Foreign exchange asset       679            (1,070)
Other current assets      (405)                 (20)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities              12,673               (516)
Income taxes payable      1,957               (931)
Foreign exchange liability      1,836     0
Deferred revenue        791             1,489
                     (1,584)           (1,019)

23. Comparative Figures

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in the current year.
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